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Chairman K. Koppelman: Opened the hearing on HB 1210 with testimony in support. 

Rep. L. Klem in: HB 1210 deals with situations relating to the temporary custody of 
children in the custody of a foster parent. Sometimes the foster parent doesn't always 
know what is going on with relation to the child and its custody. Mr. Jon Mielke is a foster 
parent in Bismarck and he is here to give further information about what this bill does. 

Jon Mielke, Foster Parent: (See Testimony #1) (2:08-7:40) 

Rep. P. Anderson: What would be your definition of reasonable period of time? 

Jon Mielke: there are a few phases in the bill that aren't specific and that is because I 
don't think we should take al l the discursion for preceding officers so it leaves somewhat 
open. It may be one day and the preceding officer might decide it should be a week or 
month so they would still have that discretion but certainly not issuing them without good 
cause and effective the same day. It does place a hardship on the people involved and 
especially potentially being traumatizing for the children. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: I appreciate and commend you for all the care you provide as a 
foster parent. The law in most cases general ly air on the side of the biological families in 
trying to reunite them. Do you see a potential flip side to this that perhaps it could 
inconvenience or damage the biological family? 

Jon Mielke: That is why there are phases in the proposed legislation that say without good 
cause or reasonable time so it is still gives the court discretion. I am not suggesting all 
orders lack that. Most of them do but we have definitely experienced instances in the foster 
parents that we know within this area and from around the state can tell you some stories. 
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Sandy Benewalk, Director Stutsman County Social Services: (See testimony #2) 
(11 :32-15:00) 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Are there reports and forms filled out for every visit? 

Sandy Benewalk: Yes; those are tracked in case management we have to track what all 
the visits are. If there is very good interaction or some of the situations I have talked that is 
documented also. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Sometimes people won't sign those forms so there is no recourse and 
then you don't have excess to them even though they have been filled out and done if they 
don't sign them you don't see them. Is that correct? 

Sandy Benewalk: When I was speaking about that I was speaking if they were going to 
consulting or if they are having other reports or other agencies and those agencies cannot 
give us the information because of confidentiality laws unless we have a release so the 
parent has to be willing to sign that release for the agency to give us those reports. 

Rep. Brabandt: It says parent visiting their children under the influence of drugs. Does 
this happen a lot? 

Sandy Benewalk: Yes it is not uncommon that it happens. There are times when we ask 
for a drug testing before they can have a visit with their child, but all the laws require us to 
make sure that the parent does have the opportunity to visit the child so we can't be doing 
that all the time. 

Rep. Kretschmar: In your county how many children are in foster care on an average over 
the year? 

Sandy Benewalk: In our county the numbers have gone up drastically in the last couple 
years. It is about 30. 

Rep. Kretschmar: Do you know how many there are statewide? 

Sandy Benewalk: I have good excess to that information but I don't remember what it is. 
can get you that information. 

Rep. Mary Johnson: I presume legal custody in this situation is with the county? 

Sandy Benewalk: Yes that would be the case in the situations I am talking about. I can 
look up where that is in the code for you. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: Is there a flip side to this that can somehow mitigate the 
removal of a child for foster care just like we are trying to mitigate the return to the family? 

Sandy Benewalk: Those are very accurate comments and ones that we are thinking. 
about at all times. In the last few years placement with relatives has gotten a lot better. 
Those numbers have gone up quite a bit. We try to keep the child as close as we can and 



House Judiciary Committee 
HB 1210 
January 21, 2015 
Page 3 

connected with the family. Family team decision making which is pulling l ike in Burleigh 
County; when there is talk about having to remove all the people who are close to try bring 
them together to try and figure out if there is another yet plan and the hope is to reduce the 
place in foster care. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: Is there anything in law requiring that kind of consideration or is 
that something you and your counter parts are doing on your own. 

Sandy Benewalk: I am not aware of anything in the law that would say that. 

Rep. D. Larson: I have been a part of the family team decision making process and it is 
excellent. Is there any move to expand that across the state into other areas it is very 
effective. The families are very well respected in that process and are asked for to bring in 
some people they think can help them to be successful in their parenting. 

Sandy Benewalk: Thank you for that comment. I testified yesterday in favor of adding 
that back into the budget. It was an OAR that the department put together, but it was not 
one that made the budget. Now it is in four counties and the OAR was to expand to six 
additional counties at a cost of $25,000 each so it is not a high ticket amount. Basically it is 
for a facilitator to help make this happen. 

Rep. Brabandt: When did foster care become so prevalent? 

Sandy Benewalk: I don't have an answer for that. I have been at Stutsman County for ten 
years as the director and I have seen an increase every year. When I grew up I wasn't 
aware of foster care that much either. Our numbers have gone up the last few years 
because of drug use. I am sure that the department we have those stats if you wish to see 
it. 

Sheri Doe, Director of the Division of Children and Family Services to the 
Department: Today there are over 2,000 children in foster care in ND. There have been a 
42% increase in the number of placements since 2010 and most of those are to families 
and foster home settings. The number made with relatives has also increased. We need 
more emphasis on pre removal, prevention and getting to the families early is very 
important. The influx of families and cases has just overwhelmed everyone in ND. Back in 
1998 the federal government passed the ASFA laws which revolutionized foster care in the 
county. It set up the rules and guidelines and that is still being fine-tuned as we speak 
today. 

Rep. K. Wallman: Do those statistics include PATH. Foster care for those children with 
special needs and special help? 

Sheri Doe: Yes it does? 

Chairman K. Koppelman: Is there anything in law as children are removed and go into 
foster care is there anything in law requiring children go to within family relative care? 
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Sheri Doe: The Child Abuse and Neglect laws we have on the books are very specific 
about what would constitute abuse. County custodians are not quick to remove children 
and we don't do it alone. It is in conjunction with their judicial partners. A judge and judicial 
referee have to review the circumstances of that removal before they will grant the removal 
order. I think parents' rights are respected. Judges are very attuned to the rights of the 
parents. When we go into court after we have removed a child we need to as workers be 
able to prove that we have done reasonable efforts to get that child home. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: This bill speaks to how that happens when a child is taken from 
the home. What constitutes neglect or abuse? It sounds like some people are doing a 
good job of caring for children. 

Rep. D. Larson: I have full confidence that the family's rights are being protected in every 
situation that I have been involved with in my career. Since we are putting something into 
law I also believe we need to be careful because it wasn't very long ago that I was in favor 
of mandatory sentencing because things weren't happening the way they should, but now 
maybe things need to soften a bit so I think it is good to be careful about what we put into 
law. I do not have any concerns on the way it is happening now. 

Opposition: None 

Neutral: None 

Hearing closed. 
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Chairman K. Koppelman: Discussed HB 1210. 

Rep. L. Klemin: This bill was on keeping foster parent informed about what is going on with 
their person they have legal custody over. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: the only thing was our intern was going to check on whether 
there is other Century Code dealing with this and also about the removal of children from 
the home as well as the return of children from the home and whether there should be 
some language that addresses both. I will try to take a look at that and maybe we can look 
at this tomorrow. 
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II Proposed Amendment #1 

Chairman K. Koppelman: Opened the meeting on this bill. This is the bill that deals with 
foster care and the removal of a child from foster care in order to bring that child back into 
the home. 

Rep. Karls: (Proposed amendment #1) went over the proposed amendment. (1 :08-2: 54) 

Rep. Karls Made a Motion to Move the amendment; Seconded by Rep. K. Hawken: 

Discussion: 

Rep. L. Klemin: Discussed the work custody. Maybe you meant protective placement? 

Rep. D. Larson: It is considered legal custody in line 11. Whenever we were talking to a 
child we always referred to who has legal custody of you. It would be court custody and I 
believe when you are talking about juveniles the verbiage you would use would be for the 
purpose of guardianship. 

Rep. L. Klemin: Maybe it could be legal custody then to be consistent. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: This chapter deals with this whole issue so I am not sure legal 
custody is the right term. 

Rep. L. Klemin: That is the current term used in the current section 1. Either way would 
be fine. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Are we not going to do anything with the first part of the bill is this the 
only amendment we are going to put on where they talked about a lack of compliance in 
Part D? 

/ 
Rep. D. Larson: It is cal led protective placement in line 17. 
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Chairman K. Koppelman: 27-20-13 which is the section of law this would amend the title 
is taking into custody. The term custody is consistent with that chapter. 

Rep. K. Wallman: The amendment says unless the child is in immediate danger the court 
can return them and give them a reasonable time. If the family is notified and knows the 
child is going to be taken and there is more time allowed it could give a family time to flee 
with a child. Are we creating a problem? 

Chairman K. Koppelman: We should not presume a family would be responsible and 
fleeing. That is the idea that is trying to be addressed here. 

Rep. K. Wallman: I don't want us to create a situation where we are not specific enough. 
We don't want to create an opportunity that the child would be in harm. 

Rep. D. Larson: I f  it isn't an immediate danger situation the court has to decide 

Chairman K. Koppelman: This is consistent with practice. 

Rep. D. Larson: If there is immediate danger law enforcement is directed to take the child 
into protective custody. The court has to demonstrate that protective measures have 
happened. This talks about a reasonable period of time. In social services you have to 
document everything with the family before they remove a child and active measures is a 
part of the court proceedings that has to happen before a child is removed from custody. 

Rep. P. Anderson: G is a new addition to this statue and I am struggling with a 
reasonable time. I think if that child has to go back to the biological parents they should do 
it quickly. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: It seems to me that the amendment we are discussing is a 
question of balancing the bil l .  

Rep. L. Klem in: Reasonable period of time may vary. 

Voice vote carried. 

Rep. L. Klemin Moved a Do Pass As Amended; Seconded by Rep. Mary Johnson: 

Discussion: 

Rep. K. Wallman: I am going to vote for this. I think it would be good to be given foster 
parents reasonable amount of forewarning so that the child doesn't cause more stress with 
that transition . 

Chairman K. Koppelman: These issues are heart wrenching issues. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: We are talking 2000 kids in the state. That is a large number. 
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Roll Call Vote: 13 Yes O No O A bsent Carrier: Rep. L. Klemin: 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1210 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "subsection 4 of section 27-20-13 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after "child" insert "to or" 

Page 1, after line 6, insert: 

"SECTION 1. Subsection 4 to section 27-20-13 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

4. Unless a child is in immediate danger. a court order transferring a child into 
custody shall provide a reasonable period of time to facilitate a beneficial 
transition for the child and other parties involved." 

Renqmber accordingly 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1210: Judiciary Committee (Rep. K. Koppelman, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS 
(13 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1210 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "subsection 4 of section 27-20-13 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after "child" insert "to or" 

Page 1, after line 6, insert: 

"SECTION 1. Subsection 4 to section 27-20-13 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

4. Unless a child is in immediate danger. a court order transferring a child 
into custody shall provide a reasonable period of time to facilitate a 
beneficial transition for the child and other parties involved." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Chairman Hogue opened the hearing on HB 1210. Representative Klemin was 
on hand to introduce the bill. 

Representative Klemin: District 47. See attachment #1. (2:23- 3:57) 

Senator Armstrong: Was there any discussion on that reasonable period of 
time of putting a maximum on it? 

Representative Klemin: I assume you mean in the House Judiciary? 

Senator Armstrong: Yes, saying you can't take any longer than a certain 
number of weeks. 

Representative Klemin: I do not remember any specific period of time being 
discussed. 

Jon Mielke: Bismarck foster parent. See attachment #2. (5:09-10:57) 

Chairman Hogue: Can you talk a little bit about the House amendment. 

Jon Mielke: It is my understanding in visiting with people in the judicial system 
I asked specific questions as it relates to my experience as a foster parent. I 
laid out several different scenarios as to how children come into our care and 
in almost every situation they indicated that their interpretation would be that it 
would involve an emergency situation and the provisions of that new language 
would not apply. There are situations, however, where there is not immediate 
danger but it is more a situation where it is the child's behavior that is causing 
them to go into care. I n  those situations this section may apply, I am not really 
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sure how a transition would be effectuated in a situation l ike that and it is my 
understanding that the Department of Human Services has somebody that will 
testify on section 1. 

Chairman Hogue: Are you satisfied that this reasonable period l anguage is 
sufficiently specific to cure the problem? 

Jon Mielke: When I was working with people in the judicial system concerning 
that language I initially  had a number of days there and it was more to 
guarantee the minimum. 

Senator Luick: How many of these children are coming from drug affected 
homes? 

Jon Mielke: I think that the representative from Human Services might be 
better position to answer that. 

Lisa Bjergaard: Director, North Dakota Department of Corrections and 
Rehabilitation Division of Juvenile Services. See attachment #3. (17: 19-21 :20) 

Chairman Hogue: So as I understand your testimony is that the language in 
the amendments on l ines 10-12 in any case should not be in 27-20-13 of the 
Code? 

Lisa Bjergaard: It is my position in 27-20-13 and I think the department of 
human services folks are going to talk about some funding issues if it is 
moved somewhere else. This is our taking into custody delinquent kids; it is 
hard to imagine what an appropriate time into that might be. 

Senator Armstrong: The term 'immediate danger' is not defined in the 
definitions in this section of the Code, is it defined anywhere else? 

Lisa Bjergaard: Not that I am aware. I have at the back of my testimony I have 
a proposed amendment. 

Senator Grabinger: If we adopted your amendment then you would come in 
support of this at that time? 

Lisa Bjergaard: I would be neutral as I do not have jurisdictional authority or 
interest over deprived children. 
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Shari Doe: Director of Children and Family Services Department. See 
attachment #4. (25:41

.
-31 :38) 

Senator Luick: There seems to be some agreement that section 1 is a bad 
idea; can you tell me why that was put into the bill in the House? 

Shari Doe: I cannot tell you as I was not part of the conversation; it was added 
during subcommittee work on the bill. 

There was no further testimony on HB 1210 and Chairman Hogue closed the 
hearing. 
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Ch. Hogue: We will take a look at HB 1210. Did everyone refresh their 
memory on this one? This is the bill looking at the foster care; the proponents' 
aim was that they wanted notice and consideration when children are being 
shuffled from their care and back to their biological parent(s). 

Sen. Casper: There was an amendment offered by DOCR Division of 
Juvenile Services. 

Sen. Armstrong: Foster parents have an incredibly tough job and they serve 
an incredibly good purpose, but I don't know why this law has to go into place. 
I don't know why the court order couldn't already do this. I believe they can do 
it now. Are they saying that the rights of the foster parents aren't being 
protected currently in the courts so that they need legislation to do so, and if 
that's the case we would have to have a serious discussion about whose 
rights apply? I understand what they do and I am thankful for everything that 
they do, but if a biological parent gets custody of his/her biological child 
through a court proceeding, the rights of a foster parent go pretty low on the 
list as to what is constitutionally protected. I don't know if this necessarily 
does any harm. I just get a little concerned when we start making these laws. 
I believe that the foster parent may not agree with the court order; you might 
not believe that the biological parent is ready to have this child back, 
especially if you are good and care about children. The problem with 
biological parents, there's no law on the books that says you have to be a 
good parent, and while we wish there was, you have a constitutional 
protection as a biological parent that is one of the most important ones we 
have. I don't know if this does any harm, I get concerned when we start 
dealing with this issue. I don't know why the court couldn't do this now. 
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Ch. Hogue: Except I wasn't sure that if I recalled the section 1 request for 
deletion and I 'm not sure what section 2 is doing either. According to Mr. 
Mielke, I think that the most important part of this bill is section 3; where you 
have been a foster parent and now you get a call and say to have the child 
ready to go. I t  is important to have closure. I can't see where section 1 really 
does. I support taking that section out of the bill. I don't see anything wrong in 
section 3. I can certainly understand somebody taking a child in, wanting to 
provide them with a safe home environment and then someone shows up and 
says we're taking them today. I think section 3 is reasonable. Does anyone 
know about section 2? 

Sen. Nelson: Having been a guardian of a child I got when he was two, and at 
the age of 10, he was ordered to go back to his father. I t  takes a long time to 
convince the child that the people that he's been with all this time are now 
releasing him to someone who they don't know. I think you need to have that 
transition time, to try and explain what is happening. This is very traumatic. I 
can't imagine had I not known weeks in advance I was going to have to give 
this child up. I agree with this section 3. 

Sen. Luick: I agree with section 3 as well. Everyone needs that transition 
time. 

Ch. Hogue: Can anyone speak to section 2. 

Sen. Armstrong: I don't like it. 

Sen. Casper: I don't like sections 1 or 2. I can support section 3. 

Sen. Grabinger: I have a question regarding section 2, can we do this under 
HIPAA laws. Wouldn't that be private information? 

Sen. Armstrong: Section 2 is designed to take discretion away from a judge. 
If a judge says you have complied with the order, then you have complied. I f  
the judge says you haven't complied, then you haven't complied with whatever 
the order said they needed to do to get their child back. The judge will make 
the determination as to whether or not you have complied substantially 
enough to get your child back. 

Ch. Hogue: I understand, we are talking about two different transfers in this 
bill. In the first section, Social Services was concerned for the welfare of a 
child and if was a deprived child, we have to remove them from the home. For 
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safety and/or for strategic reasons, you may not necessarily want to have this 
drawn out period where someone is saying good-bye. The juvenile court has 
made the decision, the parent has their act together, and they are capable of 

taking care of their child. I don't see the harm in giving the foster parents 
some time. It seems like it is a very small gesture to let them have an 
appropriate separation. It seems like the committee is not supportive of 

section 1 or 2, but there is support for section 3. 

Sen. Armstrong: I move to amend HB 1 21 0  to remove section 1 & section 2. 

Sen. Casper: Second the motion. 

Ch. Hogue: Voice vote. Motion carried. We now have the bill before us as 
amended. 

Sen. Casper: I move a Do Pass as amended. 

Sen. Grabinger: Second the motion. 

4 YES 2 NO 0 ABSENT 

CARRIER: Sen. Nelson 

DO PASS AS AMENDED 



15.0579.02001 
Title.03000 

Adopted by the Judiciary Committee 

March 31, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1210 

Page 1, line 1, remove "subsection 4 of section 27-20-13 and" 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; and to amend and reenact" 

Page 1, remove lines 4 and 5 

Page 1, line 6, remove "custodian of a deprived child" 

Page 1, remove lines 8 through 19 

Page 1, line 23, replace "shall" with "must" 

Renumber accordingly 
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0 Subcommittee 

IZI Conference Committee - AM 

Committee Clerk Signature� 
Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to the option of court-ordered rehabilitative programing for the parents, guardian, 
or other custodian of a deprived child. 

Minutes: 

Rep. K. Karls (Chair): Called the meeting to order on conference committee on HB 1210. 
Al l committee members were present. Would you let us know what the Senate did to our 
bill? 

Senator Casper: We were concerned with the situation where we were giving precedence 
to the biological parents; but if we are going to give preference to them then we should 
allow time for that transition from a child under foster care that they transition back to their 
biological parent and that would not be an immediate process. That was our number one 
priority that we wanted to make. The other items we were concerned about biological 
parents being put in lesser position. 

Senator Nelson: We though Section 2 was common sense and they shouldn't have to be 
written in code. Having been a guardian I came at this at a l ittle bit of an angle. If they 
have never known their biological parents because she was under the age of two when the 
determination was made and all of a sudden to be called at 9AM to get them ready to be 
picked up at 1 PM; it is traumatic to the guardian or foster parent. If they are going to 
transfer the child we need to allow some sort of reasonable transition time for that to 
happen. That was the reason for our section 1. As for section 2; we thought those types of 
things should just be a matter of what constitutes a guardian should keep track of their 
assessments and reports and make sure that the child is well cared for. 

Rep. K. Koppelman: The citizen who requested the bill appeared before us. We were 
concerned about taking the one sided approach. That is why we added the language. I 
don't have strong feeling about removing that. What we were concerned in the House was 
creating an unleveled playing field giving preference to the foster family while ignoring the 
biological family. I realize in a lot of cases it is necessary to remove a child immediately 
and in those cases you could; however I have heard from constitutions and others some 
horror stories too of families where children were removed; but then they were returned 
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after some time. Maybe in hind site they shouldn't have been removed at all. That is a 
concern too. I think it should work both ways. 

Senator Nelson: The basis of this bill is the Uniform Juvenile Court Act and it does deal 
with 27-20. 13 which you have in section 1. A deprived child is well defined in code. I think 
it is that opening phase that we really didn't like. 

Rep. K. Koppelman: I can understand that, but you have taken that whole piece out about 
as the child is removed from their own setting. It might solve that to amend the bill from 
what came from the Senate? At the beginning of line 8 to say to or from and later to or 
from a parent. Whether this is the correct code for that I don't know. If we say the best 
interest in the child is what we are looking at I hope it is in the best interest in the child from 
its family. We wanted to make sure we had a balance. 

Senator Nelson: When I carried this on the floor I made it big fuss about a delinquent child 
needs when a child has committed a delinquent act and needed treatment. But a deprived 
child there are definitions for what they are. In my case the father didn't deserve the 
children, but there are cases that the deprived child is without proper parental care as 
required by law. You can't consider financial means and has been abandoned by parents 
and in need of parental care and is subject to prenatal exposure, drugs and alcohol that is 
present; those things are al l the deprived child and that is who we are talking about in this 
bill. 

Senator Casper: I appreciate what Rep. K. Koppelman is saying and we can work that out 
language wise. My concern is a situation where somebody is truly in danger. We can do 
some work on that. 

Rep. K. Koppelman: I think that would be a good outcome. If you insert a to or from on 
line 8 then it would read without a compiling reason to the contrary a court order that 
transfers the child to or from the current protective placement to or from a parent or other 
biological family must provide reasonable period of time? I am not sure that is the proper 
way to phase it? That is what we are trying to get at. 

Senator Nelson: I am concerned about this child. 

Rep. K. Koppelman: I think that would be a compiling reason and that is the whole point. 

Senator Luick: My concern is the care and also subsections d of 4. 

Rep. K.Koppelman: We don't have a concern on that section. We wanted to make sure 
this was a balanced issue so this consideration of care would be exercised in both cases. 
Maybe we could work with counsel and come up with an amendment. 

Chairman Karls: Is everyone agreeable? We will schedule another meeting later today. 

Adjourned. 
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D Subcommittee 

IZI Conference Committee- PM 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to time for beneficial transition of a child to or from temporary legal custody. 

Minutes: II Proposed amendment #1 

Rep. K. Karls (Chair): Opened the conference committee meeting on HB 1210 to order. 
Al l members are present. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: (See proposed amendment #1) I believe Senator Casper 
conferred and I looked over his shoulder with Tessa after our last meeting and our intern 
has completed a proposed amendment. 

Rep. K. Koppelman moved that the Senate recede from Senate amendments and 
amend as follows; Seconded by Senator Casper. 

Rep. K. Koppelman: My concern is if the motion is to recede from the Senate 
amendments then we are back to the 200 version of the bil l .  We are told that the proper 
motion is to recede from the Senate amendments and amend with this amendment so I 
would move that and note if we are amending the 200 version it needs to take out some of 
the language the Senate took out on this other amendment. 

Discussion: 

Senator Casper: What we did earlier in the committee we had discussed putting 
something to the effect in section 2 of the amendment of the Senate version of the 
legislation that came over into and out of trying or there are two sections of the code and 
section 27-20-13 if taking section. The department is coming in and taking custody. In 
section 27-20-30 would be giving back so we have a similar language in each section and 
this is what the discussion was this morning so instead of having it all in one section we 
had to split it into two so it is appropriate. 

Roll Call Vote: 6 Yes 0 No 0 Absent 

Adjourned. 
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Adopted by the Judiciary Committee 

April 15, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1210 

That the Senate recede from its amendments as printed on page 1297 of the House Journal 
and page 1072 of the Senate Journal and that Engrossed House Bill No. 121 O be amended as 
follows: 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; and to amend and reenact" 

Page 1, remove lines 4 and 5 

Page 1, line 6, remove "custodian of a deprived child" 

Page 1, line 10, replace "Unless a child is in immediate danger'' with "Without a compelling 
reason to the contrary" 

Page 1, remove lines 13 through 19 

Page 1, line 23, replace "shall11 with "must" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0579.02002 
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· : SENATE recede from Senate amendments 
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D Unable to agree, recommends that the committee be discharged and a new 

committee be appointed 

Senators 

Senator Luick 
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Module ID: h_cfcomrep_69_001 

Insert LC: 15.0579.02002 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
HB 1210, as engrossed: Your conference committee (Sens. Luick, Casper, Nelson and 

Reps. Karls, K. Koppelman, P. Anderson) recommends that the SENATE RECEDE 
from the Senate amendments as printed on HJ page 1297, adopt amendments as 
follows, and place HB 1210 on the Seventh order: 

That the Senate recede from its amendments as printed on page 1297 of the House Journal 
and page 1072 of the Senate Journal and that Engrossed House Bill No. 1210 be amended 
as follows: 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; and to amend and reenact" 

Page 1, remove lines 4 and 5 

Page 1, line 6, remove "custodian of a deprived child" 

Page 1, line 10, replace "Unless a child is in immediate danger" with "Without a compelling 
reason to the contrary" 

Page 1, remove lines 13 through 19 

Page 1, line 23, replace "shall" with "must" 

Renumber accordingly 

Engrossed HB 1210 was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 
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House Bill No. 1210 

Testimony Before House Judiciary Committee 

Presented by: Jon Mielke 
Foster Parent 

January 21, 2015 

Good morning Chairman Koppelman and committee members. My name is Jon Mielke. My 

wife, Carol, and I are foster parents. We have been licensed by Burleigh County since 2002. 
I am appearing in support of this bill and especially want to thank Rep. Klemin for 

introducing it at my request. 

Over the past 12 years my wife and I have cared for 39 kids, virtually all infants under the age 

of three. Ten of these placements were long-term, with an average of 14 months. The longest 

was nearly three years. These kids become members of our family. Most often, we were the 

only parents that they knew. 

I am a past president of the North Dakota Foster and Adoptive Family Association. Carol and 

I were named Foster Parents of the Year in 2006. I am currently employed by the Upper 

Great Plains Transportation In�titute. Prior to coming to the Transportation Institute, I 

worked for the Public Service Commission for 23 years. I served as the PSC's chief 

executive officer for 10 years and also served as an administrative hearing officer. 

My wife and I regularly attend court proceedings involving the children that we care for. 

Almost all of these proceedings are presided over by a judicial referee instead of a judge. 

Having served as an administrative hearing officer, I am familiar with the discretion that laws 

and rules give to presiding officers. 

In some cases, we strongly disagree with resulting orders which go to an extreme to avoid 

terminating parental rights or return children to parents even though the parents have been 

almost totally non-compliant with permanency plans developed by social service 

professionals and court appointed guardian ad litems. 

The courts and judicial referees already have the ability to do what this bill proposes, but what 

seems like common sense does not always find its way into corresponding orders. Passing 

this bill would send a clear message to presiding officers regarding a few things that should be 

considered when court orders are issued. 

Section 1 of the bill simply provides that when parents, guardians, or custodians of children in 

foster care are participating in rehabilitative programs, related assessments and progress 

reports must be released to the entity that the court has given legal custody. In many cases 

?J I 
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/7 � entity would be county social services. Failure to comply with this requirement or to 

regularly visit the child, without good cause, would constitute a lack of compliance and 

should result in an order that would leave the child in protective care. 

Section 2 of the bill provides that orders that remove a child from protective care should 

provide for a reasonable transition period. Such a provision would give social work 

professionals and foster families the time to effectuate a planned transition that would 

minimize the traumatizing effects that may come with relocation. 

If court orders are issued without providing for a transition period of even as little as one or 

two or three days, children may be taken out of school and returned to biological parents 

without any prior notice to case workers or foster parents. In other instances, foster parents 

may be forced to leave work mid-afternoon to pack-up clothes and diapers and formula 

because the infant that they are caring for is going to be picked up within an hour or two to 

comply with a court order that was issued earlier that day. Similarly, social service case 

workers may have virtually no notice of the things that they have to do to comply with the 

provisions of a court order that mandates immediate relocation. 

Even more important than the hardships that these orders impose on case workers and foster 

parents is the trauma that it creates for the children involved. They are, in many cases, 

removed from a home environment that they have been in and placed in a foreign 

environment with no related counseling or transition. Judicial referees already have the 

ability to issue orders that minimize these impacts, but that is not always the end result. 

Section 2 of this bill will hopefully remind presiding officers to consider these impacts when 

issuing related orders. 

This bill is not intended to impose new burdens on the courts. It does, however, seek to 

remind presiding officers that biological parents should not be rewarded for noncompliance 

and that court orders should provide reasonable notice before removing children from 

protective care. Both of these changes are ultimately in the best interest of the children 

involved. 

Thank you Mr. Chairman and committee members, that concludes my testimony. I would be 

happy to respond to any questions that you might have. 

• 

• 

• 
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S a n d y  Bendewa ld, Di recto r Stuts man Cou nty Social  Servi ces 

Rep resentative Koppe lman  and  mem bers of the House Jud iciary Com m ittee, my 

n a m e  is Sa ndy  Ben dewa l d .  I a m  the Stutsman Cou nty Socia l Service D i rector a n d  

a m e m be r  o f  t h e  North Da kota Cou nty Di rector's Associatio n .  I am here today i n  

s u p p o rt of H B  1 2 1 0 .  

I wou ld  l i ke to spea k to the re lease of assessment and  prog ress reports, reg u lar  

v is itat ion w ith  ch i l d ren ,  and the  reasonab le ti me for benefici a l  transit ion from 

p rotective p l a cement to the parent or b io logical  fa m i ly .  

Good case m a nagement involves getti ng the a ppropriate releases to rece ive 

i nformat ion from assessments a n d  prog ress reports . Sometimes however the 

pa re n t  refuses to s ign  the re leases . Hav ing this in centu ry code that fa i l u re to 

p rovide  th is  i nformation without good cause constitutes a lack of com p l ia n ce, 

wou ld  be h e l pfu l i n  those situations .  

The word i n g  of " reg u l a rly visit the ch i ld", i n  my opi n ion ,  shou ld  be  strengthened . I 

wo u l d  guess that th is  word ing  is  i n  the b i l l  to add ress th ose frustrati ng  s ituat ions 

w h e re pa re nts do not vis it  their  ch i l d ren and  then expect to have thei r ch i l d re n  

retu rned t o  th em . Th is word ing  would work in  those situat ions .  However there 

a re many  t i m es where pa rents do  have reg u l a r  vis its with their  ch i l dren  but  they 

a re not q ua l ity vis i ts . Exa m ples would be the pa rent that comes to visi ts but does 

so u n der the i nfl uence of d rugs, the parent who vis its but spends the who le  ti me 

yel l i n g  at the i r  ch i l d ren ,  or the  parent that  v isits but s its i n  a corner and  does n 't 

i n te ra ct .  My s u ggestion wou ld  be a mend the b i l l  to a d d ress th is concern . 

Prov i d i n g  a reasonab le period of t ime to faci l itate a benefic ia l  tra nsit ion is  

i m porta nt .  There a re court systems where th is a l ready ha ppens becau se a l l  of the 

partners u n de rsta nd the i m porta nce of transit ion p la n n i n g .  However this is  n ot 

a lways the case.  I n  those situations it wou ld be benefic ia l  to have it i n  Century 

Cod e .  

I w o u l d  l i ke t o  tha n k  you for th is  opportun ity to testify a n d  would be ava i la b le  for 

a n y  questio n s  
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1210 

Page 1, line 1, after "enact" insert "subsection 4 of section 27-20-13 and" 

Page 1, line 2, after "child" insert "to or" 

Page 1, after line 6, insert: 

"SECTION 1. Subsection 4 to section 27-20-13 of the North Dakota Century 
Code is created and enacted as follows: 

. 4. Unless a child is in .immediate danger, a court order transferring a child into 
custody shall provide a reasonable period of time to facilitate a beneficial 
transition for the child and other parties involved." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0579.01001 
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TESTIMONY OF REP. LAWRENCE R. KLEMIN 

SENATE JUDICIARY COMMITTEE 

HOUSE BILL 1210 

MARCH 16, 2015 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, I am Lawrence R. 

Klemin, Representative from District 47 in Bismarck. I am here to testify in support of 

HB1210. 

HB1210 relates to transition procedures when a child is transferred from the custody of 

a parent or family member to a foster parent and back again. 

Section 1 relates to the situation when a child is determined to be delinquent or unruly 

and there is a need to take the child into custody under the Juvenile Court Act. The 

new language provides that unless the child is in immediate danger, the court order 

must provide a reasonable period of time to facilitate the transfer of the child. What is a 

reasonable period of time will depend on the facts and circumstances of each case as 

determined by the court. Section 1 was not in the original bill, but was added as an 

amendment in the House. 

Section 2 provides that when legal custody of a child is transferred to the temporary 

custody of a foster parent, that any related assessments and progress reports 

concerning the child also be provided to the foster parent so that the foster parent will 

be aware of any special needs and requirements of the child. 

Section 3 provides that when legal custody of a child is transferred from the foster 

parent back to the parent that the court order that transfers the chi ld provide for a 

reasonable period of time to facilitate the transfer. 

1 There are also other persons here to testify on this bill who can provide the committee 

with more information concerning the reasons for the bill. I urge your support of 

HB1210 and will try to answer any questions that you may have. 
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CHAPTER 27-20 
UNIFORM JUVENILE COURT ACT 

27-20-01 .  Interpretation. 
Repealed by S.L. 2007, ch. 274, § 36. 

27-20-02. Definitions. 
As used in this chapter: 
1 .  "Abandon" means: 

a. As to a parent of a child not in the custody of that parent, failure by the 
noncustodial parent significantly without justifiable cause: 
( 1 ) To communicate with the child ; or 
(2) To provide for the care and support of the child as required by law; or 

b. As to a parent of a child in that parent's custody: 
( 1 )  To leave the child for a n  indefin ite period without making firm and agreed 

plans, with the child's immediate caregiver, for the parent's resumption of 
physical custody; 

(2) Following the child's birth or treatment at a hospital, to fail to arrange for the 
child's discharge within ten days after the child no longer requ ires hospital 
care; or 

(3) To willfully fail to furnish food, shelter, cloth ing, or medical attention 
reasonably sufficient to meet the child's needs. 

2. "Abandoned infant" means a child who has been abandoned before reaching the age 
of one year. 

3.  "Aggravated circumstances" means circumstances in which a parent: 
a. Abandons, tortures, chronically abuses, or sexually abuses a child; 
b. Fails to make substantial, meaningful efforts to secure treatment for the parent's 

addiction ,  mental illness, behavior disorder, or any combination of those 
conditions for a period equal to the lesser of: 
( 1 )  One year; or 
(2) One-half of the child's lifetime, measured in days, as of the date a petition 

alleging aggravated circumstances is filed; 
c. Engages in conduct prohibited under sections 1 2 . 1 -20-01 through 1 2. 1 -20-08 or 

chapter 1 2 . 1 -27.2, in which a child is the victim or intended victim; 
d. Engages in conduct that constitutes one of the following crimes, or of an offense 

under the laws of another jurisd iction which requires proof of substantially similar 
elements: 
( 1 )  A violation of section 1 2. 1 -1 6-01 , 1 2. 1 - 1 6-02, o r  1 2. 1 - 1 6-03, or subdivision a 

of subsection 1 of section 1 4-09-22 in which the victim is another child of the 
parent; 

(2) Aid ing, abetting, attempting, conspiring, or soliciting a violation of section 
1 2. 1 -1 6-01 , 1 2 . 1 -1 6-02, or 1 2 . 1 - 1 6-03 in which the victim is a child of the 
parent; or 

(3) A violation of section 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-02 in which the victim is a child of the parent 
and has suffered serious bodily injury; 

e. Engages or attempts to engage in conduct, prohibited under sections 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-01 
through 1 2 . 1 -1 7-04, in which a ch ild is the victim or intended victim; 

f. Has been incarcerated under a sentence for wh ich the latest release date is: 
( 1 )  I n  the case of a child age n ine o r  older, after the child's majority; or 
(2) I n  the case of a child, after the chi ld is twice the child's current age, 

measured in days; 
g.  Subjects the child to prenatal exposure to chronic or severe use of alcohol or any 

controlled substance as defined in chapter 1 9-03. 1 in a manner not lawfully 
prescribed by a practitioner; or 

Page No. 1 
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h. Allows the child to be present in an environment subjecting the child to exposure 
to a controlled substance, chemical substance, or drug paraphernalia as 
prohibited by section 1 9-03. 1 -22.2. 

4. "Child" means an individual who is: 
a. Under the age of eighteen years and is not married; or 
b. Under the age of twenty years with respect to a delinquent act committed while 

under the age of eighteen years. 
5 .  "Custodian" means a person, other than a parent or legal guardian, who stands 

in  loco parentis to the child or a person to whom legal custody of the chi ld has been 
g iven by order of a court. 

6. "Del inquent act" means an act designated a crime under the law, including local 
ordinances or resolutions of this state, or of another state if the act occurred in that 
state, or under federal law, and the crime does not fal l  under subdivision c of 
subsection 1 9. 

7.  "Delinquent child" means a child who has committed a del inquent act and is i n  need of 
treatment or rehabil itation. 

8. "Deprived child" means a child who: 
a. Is without proper parental care or control , subsistence, education as required by 

law, or other care or control necessary for the child's physical ,  mental ,  or 
emotional health, or morals, and the deprivation is not due primarily to the lack of 
financial means of the child's parents, guardian, or other custodian;  

b. Has been placed for care or adoption in violation of law; 
c. Has been abandoned by the child's parents, guardian, or other custodian; 
d .  Is  without proper parental care, control, or  education as requ ired by law, or other 

care and control necessary for the child's well-being because of the physica l ,  
mental, emotional, or other i l lness or disabil ity of  the chi ld's parent or parents, 
and that such lack of care is not due to a willful act of commission or act of 
omission by the child's parents, and care is requested by a parent; 

e .  I s  i n  need of treatment and whose parents, guardian, or  other custodian have 
refused to participate in treatment as ordered by the juvenile court; 

f. Was subject to prenatal exposure to chronic or severe use of alcohol or any 
controlled substance as defined in chapter 1 9-03. 1  in a manner not lawfully 
prescribed by a practitioner; or 

g .  Is  present in an environment subjecting the child to exposure to a controlled 
substance, chemical substance, or drug paraphernal ia as prohibited by section 
1 9-03 . 1 -22.2.  

9 .  "Detention" means a physically secure facil ity with locked doors and does not include 
shelter care, attendant care, or home detention. 

1 0 . "Director" means the director of juveni le court or the director's designee. 
1 1 .  "Fit and wil l ing relative or other appropriate individual" means a relative or other 

individual who has been determined, after consideration of an assessment that 
includes a criminal h istory record investigation under chapter 50-1 1 .3 ,  to be a qualified 
person under chapter 30. 1 -27, and who consents in writing to act as a legal guardian .  

1 2 . "Home" when used in the phrase "to return home" means the abode of the child's 
parent with whom the child formerly resided. 

1 3 . "Juvenile court" means the district court of this state. 
1 4 .  "Juvenile drug court" means a program established in a jud icial district consisting of 

i ntervention and assessment of juveniles involved in forms of substance abuse; 
frequent drug testing ; intense judicial and probation supervision ; individual, group, and 
family counseling; substance abuse treatment; educational opportunities ; and use of 
sanctions and incentives. 

1 5 . "Permanency hearing" means a hearing, conducted with respect to a child who is i n  
foster care, to determine the permanency plan for the child which includes: 
a.  Whether and, if applicable, when the child wi l l  be returned to the parent; 
b. Whether and, if applicable, when the child will be placed for adoption and the 

state will file a petition for termination of parental rights; 
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c. Whether and, if applicable, when a fit and wil l ing relative or other appropriate 
individual will be appointed as a legal guardian; 

d.  Whether and, if  applicable, to place siblings in the same foster care, relative, 
guardianship, or adoptive placement, unless it is determined that the joint 
placement would be contrary to the safety or well-being of any of the siblings; 

e. Whether and, if applicable, in the case of siblings removed from their home who 
are not jointly placed, to provide for frequent visitation or other ongoing interaction 
between the siblings, un less it is determined to be contrary to the safety or 
well-being of any of the siblings; 

f. I n  cases in which a compelling reason has been shown that it would not be in the 
child's best interests to return home, to have parental rights terminated, to be 
placed for adoption , to be placed with a fit and will ing relative, or to be placed with 
a legal guardian, whether and, if applicable, when the child will be placed in 
another planned permanent living arrangement; 

g. In  the case of a child who has been placed in foster care outside the state in  
which the  home of  the parents is located , or i f  the parents maintain separate 
homes, outside the state in which the home of the parent who was the child's 
primary caregiver is located, whether out-of-state placements have been 
considered. If the child is currently in an out-of-state placement, the court shall 
determine whether the placement continues to be appropriate and in the child's 
best interests; and 

h. In the case of a child who has attained age sixteen ,  the services needed to assist 
the child to make the transition from foster care to independent living.  

1 6. "Protective supervision" means supervision ordered by the court of children found to 
be deprived or unruly. 

1 7. "Relative" means: 
a. The child's grandparent, great-grandparent, sibling, half-sibling ,  aunt, great-aunt, 

uncle, great-uncle, nephew, n iece, or first cousin ;  
b .  An individual with a relationship to the child , derived through a current or former 

spouse of the child's parent, similar to a relationship described in subdivision a; 
c. An individual recognized in the child's community as having a relationship with 

the ch i ld similar to a relationship described in subdivision a; or 
d. The child's stepparent. 

1 8. "Shelter care" means temporary care of a child in physically unrestricted facil ities. 
1 9 . "Unru ly child" means a child who: 

a. Is habitually and without justification truant from school; 
b. Is habitually disobedient of the reasonable and lawful commands of the child's 

parent, guardian, or other custodian and is ungovernable or who is willfu lly in a 
situation dangerous or injurious to the health, safety, or morals of the child or 
others; 

c. Has committed an offense applicable only to a child , except for an offense 
committed by a minor fourteen years of age or older under subsection 2 of 
section 1 2 . 1 -3 1 -03 or an equivalent local ordinance or resolution; 

d .  Has committed a n  offense in violation of section 5-0 1 -08; or 
e. Is under the age of fourteen years and has purchased, possessed, smoked, or 

used tobacco or tobacco-related products in violation of subsection 2 of section 
1 2 . 1 -3 1 -03; and 

f. In  any of the foregoing instances is in need of treatment or rehabilitation. 
20. "Willfully" has the meaning provided in section 1 2 . 1 -02-02. 

27-20-03. J u risdiction. 
1 .  The juvenile court has exclusive orig inal jurisdiction of the fol lowing proceedings, 

which are governed by this chapter: 
a. Proceedings in which a child is al leged to be delinquent, unru ly, or deprived; 
b. Proceedings for the termination of parental rights except when a part of an 

adoption proceeding; 
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c. Proceedings arising under sections 27-20-39 through 27-20-42; 
d. Proceedings arising under section 27-20-30. 1 ; and 
e.  Civil forfeiture proceedings arising under chapter 1 9-03 . 1  or section 29-3 1 . 1 -04 

for which a child is alleged to have possessed forfeitable property. The juvenile 
court shall conduct the proceedings in accordance with the procedures provided 
for under sections 1 9-03. 1 -36 through 1 9-03 . 1 -37. 

2. The juvenile court also has exclusive orig inal jurisd iction of the following proceedings, 
which are governed by the laws relating thereto without regard to the other provisions 
of this chapter: 
a. Proceedings to obtain judicial consent to the marriage, employment, or enl istment 

in the armed services of a child, if consent is required by law; 
b. Proceedings under the interstate compact on juveniles; 
c. Proceedings under the interstate compact on the placement of children; and 
d. Proceedings arising under section 50-06-06. 1 3  to obtain a jud icial determination 

that the placement of a severely emotionally disturbed child in an out-of-home 
treatment program is in the best interests of the child. 

3. The juvenile court has concurrent jurisd iction with the district court of proceedings for 
the appointment of a guardian for a minor which, if originated under this chapter, are 
governed by this chapter and chapter 30 . 1 -27. 

27-20-04. Concurrent j u risdiction. 
Repealed by S.L. 1 991 , ch. 326, § 203. 

27-20-05. Juvenile court personnel. 
1 .  The supreme court may provide for the appointment by administrative and personnel 

rules of the necessary juveni le court officers, clerical personnel, and other specialized 
personnel within the limits of legislative appropriations to assist the court in carrying 
out its juvenile probation and supervisor functions. 

2. Detention center faci l ities and personnel must be funded by the county. 
3. All salaries, per d iem, and other compensation payable to juvenile court personnel, all 

necessary books, forms, stationery, office supplies and equipment, postage, 
telephone, travel ,  and other necessary expenses incurred in carrying out the 
provisions of this chapter must be borne by the state, except for suitable quarters for 
conducting official business and lights and fuel which must be funded by the county 
and except as provided by subsection 1 of section 27-20-49. 

27-20-05. 1 . County j uveni le supervisors - Authorization for mil l  levy. 
Repealed by S.L .  1 98 1 , ch. 320, § 1 1 2. 

27-20-06. Powers and duties of director of j uvenile court. 
1 .  For the purpose of carrying out the objectives and purposes of this chapter and subject 

to the l imitations of this chapter or imposed by the court, a director shall :  
a .  Make investigations, reports, and recommendations to the  juvenile court. 
b.  Receive and examine complaints and charges of del inquency or unruly conduct 

or deprivation of a child for the purpose of considering the commencement of 
proceedings under this chapter. 

c. Supervise and assist a child placed on probation for delinquency or unruly 
conduct, or both . 

d .  Make appropriate referrals to other private o r  public agencies o f  the community if 
their assistance appears to be needed or desirable. 

e. I ssue a temporary custody order concern ing a child who is referred to the 
di rector's supervision or care as a del inquent, unruly, or deprived child. Except as 
provided by this chapter, a director does not have the powers of a law 
enforcement officer. 

f. Admin ister oaths. 
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g .  Take acknowledgments of instruments for the purpose of this chapter. 
h .  Make such temporary order not to exceed ninety-six hours for the custody and 

control of a child al leged to be deprived as may be deemed appropriate. The 
order must be reduced to writing within twenty-four hours, excluding holidays and 
weekends. 

i .  Perform all other functions designated by this chapter or under section 27-05-30 
or by order of the court pursuant thereto, including, if qualified, those of a referee.  

j .  Issue an order to a law enforcement authority to transport a child to and from a 
specified location. 

2. Any of the foregoing functions may be performed in another state if authorized by the 
court of this state and permitted by the laws of the other state. 

27-20-07. Referees. 
Repealed by S .L. 1 985, ch. 334, § 5. 

27-20-08. Commencement of proceedings. 
A proceeding under this chapter may be commenced: 
1 .  By transfer of a case from another court as provided in section 27-20-09; 
2.  By the court accepting jurisd iction as provided in section 27-20-40 or accepting 

supervision of a child as provided in section 27-20-42; or 
3. In other cases by the fil ing of a petition as provided in this chapter. The petition and all 

other documents in the proceeding must be entitled " In  the interest of 
_______ , a child". If a child is in shelter care, the petition must be filed within 
thirty days of the shelter care hearing under section 27-20-1 7.  If the petition is not filed, 
the child must be released from shelter care. 

27-20-09. Transfer from other courts. 
If it appears to the court in a criminal proceeding, except for an offense transferred under 

section 27-20-34, that the defendant is a chi ld subject to the jurisdiction of the juveni le court, the 
court shal l  immediately transfer the case to the juvenile court together with a copy of the 
accusatory pleading and other papers, documents, and transcripts of testimony relating to the 
case. It shall order that the defendant be taken immediately to the juvenile court or to a place of 
detention designated by the juveni le court, or release the defendant to the custody of the 
defendant's parent, guardian, custodian , or other person legally responsible for the defendant, 
to be brought before the juvenile court at a time designated by that court. The accusatory 
pleading may serve in l ieu of a petition in the juvenile court unless that court directs the fil ing of 
a petition. 

27-20-1 0. I nformal adjustment. 
1 .  Before a petition is filed, the director of juvenile court or other officer of the court 

designated by it, subject to its direction, may give counsel and advice to the parties 
and impose conditions for the conduct and control of the child with a view to an 
informal adjustment if it appears: 
a .  The admitted facts bring the case within the jurisd iction of  the court; 
b. Counsel, advice, and conditions, if any, for the conduct and control of the child 

without an adjudication would be in the best interest of the public and the child; 
and 

c. The child and the child's parents, guardian, or other custodian consent thereto 
with knowledge that consent is not obligatory. 

2 .  The giving of  counsel and advice and any conditions imposed for the  conduct and 
control of the chi ld cannot extend beyond n ine months from the day commenced 
un less extended by the court for an additional period not to exceed six months and 
does not authorize the detention of the child if not otherwise permitted by this chapter. 
If tbe child admits to driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle in violation 
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of section 39-08-01 or an equivalent ordinance, the child may be required to pay a fine 
as a condition imposed under this section. 

3. An incriminating statement made by a participant to the person g iving counsel or 
advice and in the d iscussions or conferences incident thereto may not be used again st 
the declarant over objection in any hearing except in a hearing on disposition in  a 
juvenile court proceeding or in a criminal proceeding against the declarant after 
conviction for the purpose of a presentence investigation. 

4. If  a child is subject to informal adjustment for a violation of section 39-08-01 or 
equivalent ordinance, or if a child is found to have an alcohol concentration of at least 
two one-hundredths of one percent by weight at the time of performance of a test 
with in two hours after driving or being in physical control of a motor vehicle, the 
juveni le court shall require the child to participate in the twenty-four seven sobriety 
program under chapter 54- 1 2  for up to nine months. 

27-20-1 1 .  Venue. 
A proceeding under this chapter may be commenced in the county in  which the child 

resides. A proceeding under section 27-20-30. 1 must be commenced in the administrative 
county, as determined by the department of human services. If delinquent or unruly conduct is 
alleged, the proceeding may be commenced in the county in which the acts constituting the 
alleged delinquent or unruly conduct occurred. I f  deprivation is alleged , the proceeding may be 
brought in the county in which the child is present when it is commenced, the county in which 
the child has resided the majority of the thirty days prior to the date of the alleged deprivation,  or 
the county where the alleged deprivation has occurred. The court shall determine the 
appropriate venue for a deprivation action based upon the best interests of the child . 

27-20-1 2. Transfer to another j uvenile court within the state . 
1 .  I f  the child resides in  a county of the state and the proceeding is commenced in a court 

of another county, the court, on motion of a party or on its own motion made prior to 
final disposition and in  consultation with the court in the other county, may transfer the 
proceeding to the county of the child's residence for further action. Like transfer may 
be made if the residence of the child changes pending the proceeding. The proceeding 
must be transferred if the child has been adjudicated delinquent or unruly and other 
proceedings involving the chi ld are pending in the juven ile court of the county of the 
child's residence. 

2. Certified copies of all legal and social documents and records pertaining to the case 
on fi le with the clerk of the court must accompany the transfer. 

27-20-1 3.  Taking i nto custody. 
1 .  A child may be taken into custody: 

a. Pursuant to an order of the court under this chapter; 
b. Pursuant to the laws of arrest; 
c. By a law enforcement officer if there are reasonable grounds to believe: 

( 1 )  That the child is suffering from i l lness or injury or i s  i n  immediate danger 
from the child's surroundings, and that the child's removal is necessary; or 

(2) That the child has run away from the child's parents, guardian, or other 
custodian; or 

d. By order of the director made pursuant to subdivision h of subsection 1 of section 
27-20-06. 

2. The taking of a child into custody is not an arrest, except for the purpose of 
determining its val idity under the Constitution of North Dakota or the Constitution of the 
United States. 

3. A law enforcement officer may transport a child to and from detention. 

Page No. 6 



• 

27-20-1 4. Detention of chi ld - Juvenile d rug court exception. 
1 .  A child taken into custody may not be detained or placed in shelter care prior to the 

hearing on the petition un less the child's detention or care is required to protect the 
person or property of others or of the child or because the child may abscond or be 
removed from the jurisd iction of the court or because the child has no parent, 
guardian, or custodian or other person able to provide supervision and care for the 
child and return the chi ld to the court when required, or an order for the chi ld's 
detention or shelter care has been made by the court pursuant to this chapter. 

2 .  I f  a child is participating in a juvenile drug court program as a result of  an adjudication 
for a delinquent offense, the drug court may order the child detained in a juvenile 
detention center operated pursuant to chapter 1 2-44. 1 .  The chi ld may be detained 
twice during the chi ld's participation in the program but the total period of detention 
under this subsection may not exceed four days in a one-year period. 

27-20-1 5. Release or delivery to court. 
1 .  A person taking a child into custody, with all reasonable speed and without first taking 

the chi ld elsewhere, shall : 
a. Release the child to the child's parent, guardian, custodian , or other responsible 

adult able and wil l ing to assume custody of the child, upon that individual's 
promise to bring the child before the court when requested by the court, un less 
the child's detention or shelter care is warranted or required under section 
27-20-14 ;  or 

b. Bring the child before the court or deliver the child to a detention or shelter care 
facility designated by the court or to a medical facility if the child is believed to 
suffer from a serious physical condition or i l lness which requires prompt 
treatment. The person taking the child into custody shall promptly give notice 
thereof, together with a statement of the reason for taking the child i nto custody, 
to a parent, guardian, or other custodian and to the court. Any temporary 
detention or questioning of the child necessary to comply with this subsection 
must conform to the procedures and conditions prescribed by this chapter and 
rules of court. 

2. If  a parent, guardian, or other custodian , when requested, fails to bring the child before 
the court as provided in subsection 1 , the court may issue its warrant directing that the 
child be taken into custody and brought before the court. 

3. If a child is ordered detained by a juvenile drug court, notice under this section is not 
required. 

27-20-1 6. Place of detention. 
1 .  A ch i ld alleged to be delinquent or unruly may be detained only in :  

a. A licensed foster home or a home approved by the court; 
b. A facility operated by a licensed child welfare agency; 
c. A detention home or center for delinquent or unruly children which is under the 

direction or supervision of the court or other public authority or of a private 
agency approved by the court; 

d. Any other suitable place or facil ity, i ncluding a medical faci l ity for the treatment of 
mental i l lness, alcoholism, or drug addiction , designated by the court; or 

e. A jail or other facil ity for the detention of adults only if the facil ity in subdivision c is 
not available, the detention is in a room separate and removed from those for 
adults, it appears to the satisfaction of the court or the juvenile supervisor, intake 
officer, or other authorized officer of the court, that public safety and protection 
reasonably require detention, and it is so authorized. 

2. The official in charge of a jail or other facil ity for the detention of adu lt offenders or 
persons charged with crime shall inform the court immed iately if a person who is or 
appears to be a child is received at the facil ity and shall bring the person before the 
court upon request or deliver the person to a detention or shelter care facil ity 
designated by the court. 
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3. I f  a case is transferred to another court for criminal prosecution ,  the child may be 
transferred to the appropriate officer or detention facility in accordance with the law 
governing the detention of persons charged with crime. 

4. A child al leged to be deprived may be placed in shelter care only in the facilities stated 
in subdivisions a, b, and d of subsection 1 and may not be detained in a jail or other 
facility i ntended or used for the detention of adults charged with criminal offenses or of 
children alleged to be delinquent or unruly. 

5. Effective January 1 ,  1 988, a chi ld alleged to be unruly may be detained only in the 
facilities l isted in subdivisions a, b, c, and d of subsection 1 .  

27-20-1 7. Release from detention or shelter care - Hearing - Conditions of release. 
1 .  If a child is brought before the court or delivered to a detention or shelter care facil ity 

designated by the court, the d irector, the intake officer, or other authorized officer of 
the court shall immediately make an investigation and release the child unless it 
appears that the child's detention or shelter care is warranted or required under 
section 27-20-14 .  

2 .  If  the child i s  not released, a judge or  referee shall hold a detention or  shelter care 
hearing promptly and not later than ninety-six hours after the child is placed in  
detention or shelter care to  determine whether there is probable cause to  believe the 
chi ld has committed the delinquent or unruly acts alleged, or the chi ld is deprived and 
whether the child's detention or shelter care is required under section 27-20-14.  A 
hearing is not required if the child has been ordered detained by a juvenile drug court. 
Reasonable notice, either oral or written ,  stating the time, place, and purpose of the 
detention or shelter care hearing must be g iven to the child and, if they can be found,  
to the child's parents, guardian, or other custodian. Prior to the commencement of the 
hearing ,  the court shall inform the parties of their right to counsel and to counsel at 
public expense if they are indigent, and of the child's right to remain silent with respect 
to any allegations of delinquency or unruly cond uct. 

3 .  If  continued shelter care is  required , the judge or referee may order that the child be 
kept in shelter care for no more than sixty days from the date of the shelter care 
hearing.  

4. As a condition to the child's release from shelter care, the court may order a parent, 
guardian,  custodian , or any other member of the household in which the child resides 
to vacate the child's residence if probable cause exists to believe that the parent, 
guardian,  custodian , or other member of the household has committed a sexual 
offense with or against the child, pursuant to sections 1 2. 1 -20-03 through 1 2. 1 -20-07 
or section 1 2. 1 -20-1 1 ,  and the presence of the alleged sexual offender in the child's 
residence presents a danger to the chi ld's l ife or physical, emotional, or mental health. 
The court may order that the parent, guardian, or custodian not allow contact with an 
identified person if the court determines the order is i n  the best interests of the child. 

5. I f  the child is not released and a parent, guardian, or custodian has not been notified of 
the hearing,  did not appear or waive appearance at the hearing ,  and files an affidavit 
showing these facts, the court shall rehear the matter without unnecessary delay and 
order the chi ld's release, un less it appears from the hearing that the chi ld's detention 
or shelter care is required under section 27-20- 1 4. 

27-20-1 8. S u bpoena. 
Superseded by N.D .R .Juv.P. , Rule 1 3. 

27-20-1 9. Petition - Preliminary determination. 
A petition alleging del inquency or unrul iness under this chapter must be reviewed by the 

director, the court, or other person authorized by the court to determine whether the fil ing of the 
petition is in the best interest of the public and the child .  
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27-20-20. Petition - Who may prepare and fi le - Review. 
A petition may be prepared and filed by the state's attorney. A petition may also be prepared 

by any other person, including a law enforcement officer, who has knowledge of the facts 
al leged or is informed and believes that they are true. A petition prepared by any person other 
than a state's attorney may not be filed unless the d irector, the court, or other person authorized 
by the court has determined the fi l ing of the petition is in the best i nterest of the public and the 
child. 

27-20-20. 1 . Petition to terminate parental rights - When brought - Defin itions. 
1 .  A petition to terminate parental rights may be made as provided under this section and 

section 27-20-45. 
2 .  Except as provided in subsection 3,  a petition for termination of  parental rights must be 

filed: 
a .  If the child has been in foster care, in the custody of the department, or, in cases 

arising out of an adjudication by the court that a child is an unruly child, the 
division of juven ile services, for at least four hundred fifty out of the previous six 
hundred sixty n ights; 

b .  Within sixty days after a court of competent jurisdiction has found the child to be 
an abandoned infant; or 

c. Within sixty days after a court of competent jurisd iction has convicted the child's 
parent of one of the following crimes, or of an offense under the laws of another 
jurisd iction which requires proof of substantially similar elements: 
( 1 )  A violation of section 1 2. 1 - 1 6-01 , 1 2. 1 - 1 6-02, or 1 2. 1 - 1 6-03, or subdivision a 

of subsection 1 of section 1 4-09-22 in which the victim is another child of the 
parent; 

(2) Aid ing, abetting,  attempting, conspiring ,  or soliciting a violation of section 
1 2. 1 -1 6-01 , 1 2 . 1 - 1 6-02, or 1 2 . 1 - 1 6-03 in which the victim is a child of the 
parent; or 

(3) A violation of section 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-02 in which the victim is a child of the parent 
and has suffered serious bodily injury. 

3. A petition for termination of parental rights need not be filed if: 
a .  The child i s  being cared for by a relative approved by the department; 
b. The department has documented in the case plan a compell ing reason for 

determining that fi l ing such a petition would not be in the child's best interests and 
has notified the court that the documentation is available for review by the court; 
or 

c. The department has determined: 
( 1 )  Reasonable efforts to preserve and reunify the family are required under 

section 27-20-32.2 to be made with respect to the child; 
(2) The case plan provides such services are necessary for the safe return of 

the child to the child's home; and 
(3) Such services have not been provided consistent with time periods 

described in the case plan. 
4. For purposes of subsection 2,  a chi ld in foster care entered foster care on the earlier 

of: 
a. The date of the court's order if the court: 

( 1 )  Made a finding that the child has been subjected to child abuse or neglect; 
(2) Determined that it is unsafe or contrary to the welfare of the child to remain 

in the home; and 
(3) Granted custody of the child to the department or, in cases arising out of an 

adjudication by the court that a child is an unruly chi ld ,  the d ivision of 
juvenile services; or 

b. The date that is sixty days after: 
( 1 )  The date of a hearing under section 27-20- 1 7  which results i n  retaining a 

child in shelter care; 
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(2) The date of an order in a dispositional hearing under which a child is placed 
in foster care; or 

(3) The date a child is placed in foster care voluntarily and with the consent of 
the child's parent. 

5. For purposes of subsection 2, a child leaves foster care when: 
a.  The court enters an order: 

( 1 )  Denying a petition to grant care, custody, and control of the child to the 
department or the division of juvenile services; 

(2) Terminating an order that granted custody of the child to the department or 
the division of juvenile services; or 

(3) Appointing a legal guardian under section 27-20-48. 1 ; 
b. The court order under which the chi ld entered foster care ends by operation of 

law; 
c. The child is placed in a parental home by the court or a legal custodian other than 

the division of juvenile services and the legal custodian lacks authority to remove 
the child without further order of the court; or 

d. The child is placed in a parental home by the division of juvenile services. 
6. For purposes of subsection 2 ,  a child is not in foster care on any n ight during which the 

chi ld is: 
a. On a trial home visit; 
b. Receiving services at the youth correctional center pursuant to an adjudication of 

delinquency; or 
c. Absent without leave from the place in which the child was receiving foster care. 

7. For purposes of this section:  
a. "A finding that the child has been subjected to child abuse or neglect" means :  

( 1 )  A finding of deprivation made under chapter 27-20;  or 
(2) A conviction of a person, responsible for a ch ild's welfare, for conduct 

involving the child , under chapter 1 2. 1 -1 6  or sections 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-01 through 
1 2. 1 -1 7-04 or 1 2. 1 -20-01 through 1 2. 1 -20-08. 

b. "Compell ing reason"  means a recorded statement that reflects consideration of: 
( 1 )  The child's age; 
(2) The portion of the child's l ife spent l iving in the household of a parent of the 

child; 
(3) The availability of an adoptive home suitable to the child's needs; 
(4) Whether the child has special needs; and 
(5) The expressed wishes of a child age ten or older. 

c. "Department" means the department of human services or its designee, i ncluding 
any county social service board. 

27-20-2 1 .  Contents of petition. 
Superseded by N.D.R.Juv.P., Rule 3. 

27-20-22. Summons. 
Superseded by N.D.R.Juv. P. ,  Rules 2, 5 ,  and 1 0 . 

27-20-23. Service of s u m mons. 
Superseded by N.D.R.Juv.P., Rule 6. 

27-20-24. Conduct of hearings. 
1 .  Hearings under this chapter must be conducted by the court without a jury, in an 

informal but orderly manner, and separately from other proceedings not i ncluded in 
section 27-20-03. 

2. If the hearing has not been held within the time limit, or any extension thereof, required 
by subsection 1 of section 27-20-22, the petition must be d ismissed. 
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3. The state's attorney upon request of the court shall present the evidence in support of 
any al legations of the petition not admitted and otherwise conduct the proceedings on 
behalf of the state. 

4. Except for informal adjustments under section 27-20-10 ,  the proceedings must be 
recorded by stenographic notes or by electronic, mechanical ,  or other appropriate 
means. 

5. Hearings are open to the public if the purpose of the hearing is to declare a person in 
contempt of court or to consider a petition alleg ing an offense identified under 
subdivision b of subsection 1 of section 27-20-34 or subsection 2 of section 27-20-34. 
The general public must be excluded from other hearings under this chapter. In  
hearings from which the general public is excluded, only the parties, their counsel, 
witnesses, victims, and any other persons the court finds have a proper interest in the 
proceedings may be admitted by the court. The court may temporarily exclude the 
child or other person from the hearing if, after being warned by the court that d isruptive 
conduct will cause removal from the courtroom, the child or other person persists in 
conduct that justifies removal from the courtroom. 

27-20-25. Service by publication - Interlocutory order of disposition. 
Superseded by N.D.R.Juv.P., Rule 8. 

27-20-26. Right to counsel - Exceptions. 
1 .  Except as otherwise provided in this section,  a party who is indigent and unable to 

employ legal counsel is entitled to counsel at public expense at proceedings 
commenced under section 27-20-30. 1 , and at custodial, post-petition , and informal 
adjustment stages of proceedings under this chapter. During the informal adjustment 
stage of a proceeding or in a proceeding commenced under section 27-20-30. 1 only 
the child, if determined to be indigent, is entitled to counsel at public expense. I n  
proceedings regarding a llegations of unrul iness o r  delinquency, a child's parent, legal 
guardian, or custodian ,  if determined to be indigent, is entitled to counsel at public 
expense only during the d ispositional stage of the proceedings. If  a party appears 
without counsel the court shall ascertain whether the party knows the party may be 
represented by counsel and that the party is entitled to counsel at public expense if 
indigent. The court may continue the proceeding to enable a party to obtain counsel 
and, subject to this section, counsel must be provided for an unrepresented indigent 
party upon the party's request. Counsel must be provided for a child who is under the 
age of eighteen years and is not represented by the child's parent, guardian , or 
custodian at custodial, post-petition ,  and informal adjustment stages of proceedings 
under this chapter. If  the interests of two or more parties conflict, separate counsel 
must be provided for each of them. 

2. An indigent party is one who at the time of requesting counsel is unable, without undue 
financial hardship,  to provide for ful l  payment of legal counsel and al l  other necessary 
expenses for representation .  A child who, at the time of the proceeding, is under the 
age of eighteen years is not to be considered ind igent under this section if the child's 
parent can ,  without undue financial hardship, provide full payment for legal counsel 
and other expenses of representation . Any parent of a child who is under the age of 
eighteen and is involved in a proceeding under this chapter is, un less undue financial 
hardship would ensue, responsible for providing legal counsel and for paying other 
necessary expenses of representation for the parent's child. The court may enforce 
performance of this duty by appropriate order. 

3. For purposes of this section and section 27-20-49, "party" means the chi ld and the 
chi ld's parent, legal guardian ,  or custodian , and includes "ch ild" as defined in 
subsection 1 of section 27-20-30. 1 .  
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27-20-27. Other basic rights. 
1 .  A party is entitled to the opportunity to introduce evidence and otherwise be heard in 

the party's own behalf and to cross-examine adverse witnesses. 
2. A child charged with a delinquent act need not be a witness against or otherwise 

incriminate oneself. An extrajud icial statement, if obtained in the course of violation of 
this chapter or which would be constitutionally inadmissible in a criminal proceeding ,  
may not be used against a child. Evidence il legally seized or  obtained may not be 
received over objection to establish the allegations made against a child. A confession 
validly made by a child out of court is insufficient to support an adjudication of 
delinquency un less it is corroborated in whole or in part by other evidence. 

27-20-27. 1 . Orders directed to parents or guardians. 
It is the policy of this state that every parent or guard ian has an obligation to participate in 

any treatment of the parent's or guardian's child as ordered by the juvenile court. The juveni le 
court may hold any parent or guardian who willfully fails to participate in  the treatment in 
contempt of court. 

27-20-28. I nvestigation and report. 
1 .  If the allegations of a petition are admitted by a party or notice of a hearing under 

section 27-20-34 has been given, the court, prior to the hearing on need for treatment 
or rehabilitation and disposition , may direct that a social study and report in writing to 
the court be made by the director or other person designated by the court, concerning 
the chi ld ,  the child's family and environment, and other matters relevant to disposition 
of the case. If the allegations of the petition are not admitted and notice of a hearing 
under section 27-20-34 has not been g iven ,  the court may not d i rect the making of the 
study and report unti l  after the court has heard the petition upon notice of hearing 
given pursuant to this chapter and the court has found that the child committed a 
delinquent act or is an unruly or deprived child. 

2 .  During the pendency of any proceeding the court: 
a. May order the child to be examined at a suitable place by a physician ,  

psychologist, o r  certified addiction counselor; 
b. May order the child tested by appropriate forensic methods to determine whether 

the child has been exposed to a controlled substance or other substance 
considered injurious to the child's health; or 

c. May order medical or surgical treatment of a child who is suffering from a serious 
physical condition or i l lness, or alcohol or drug abuse, which in the opinion of a 
licensed physician requires prompt treatment, even if the parent, guardian, or 
other custodian has not been g iven notice of a hearing ,  is not available, or without 
good cause informs the court of that person's refusal to consent to the treatment. 

27-20-29. Hearing - Findings - Dismissal. 
1 .  After hearing the evidence on the petition, the court shall make and file its findings as 

to whether the child is a deprived child, or if the petition al leges that the child is 
delinquent or unruly, whether the acts ascribed to the child were committed by the 
child. If  the court finds that the child is not a deprived child or that the allegations of 
del inquency or unruly conduct have not been established, it shall d ismiss the petition 
and order the child d ischarged from any detention or other restriction previously 
ordered in the proceeding. 

2.  If the court finds on proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the child committed the acts 
by reason of which the child is al leged to be delinquent or unruly, it shall proceed 
immediately or at a postponed hearing to hear evidence as to whether the child is in 
need of treatment or rehabil itation and to make and fi le its findings thereon. I n  the 
absence of evidence to the contrary, evidence of the commission of acts which 
constitute a felony is sufficient to sustain a finding that the child is in need of treatment 
or rehabil itation .  If the court finds that the child is not in need of treatment or 
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rehabilitation, it shall d ismiss the proceeding and discharge the child from any 
detention or other restriction previously ordered. 

3 .  If the court finds from clear and convincing evidence that the child i s  deprived o r  that 
the child is in need of treatment or rehabilitation as a delinquent or unruly child, the 
court shall proceed immediately or at a postponed hearing to make a proper 
disposition of the case. 

4. In hearings under subsections 2 and 3, all evidence helpful in determining the 
questions presented, including oral and written reports, may be received by the court  
and  relied upon t o  the extent o f  its probative value even though not otherwise 
competent in  the hearing on the petition. The parties or their counsel must be afforded 
an opportun ity to examine and controvert written reports so received and to 
cross-examine individuals making the reports. Sources of confidential information 
need not be disclosed. 

5. On its motion or that of a party, the court may continue the hearings under this section 
for a reasonable period to receive reports and other evidence bearing on the 
disposition or the need for treatment or rehabilitation. In this event the court shall make 
an appropriate order for detention of the child or the child's release from detention 
subject to supervision of the court during the period of the continuance. In schedul ing 
investigations and hearings the court shal l  give priority to proceedings in  which a child 
is in  detention or has otherwise been removed from the child's home before an order 
of disposition has been made. 

27-20-30. Disposition of deprived child. 
1 .  I f  the child is found to be a deprived chi ld,  the court may make any of the following  

orders of  disposition best suited to  the protection and physical, mental, and  moral 
welfare of the child : 
a. Permit the chi ld to reside with the chi ld's parents, guardian, or other custodian,  

subject to conditions and limitations as the court prescribes, including supervision 
as directed by the court for the protection of the child . 

b. Subject to conditions and limitations as the court prescribes, transfer temporary 
legal custody to any of the following:  
( 1 ) An agency or other private organization licensed or otherwise authorized by 

law to receive and provide care for the child. 
(2) The director of the county social service board or other public agency 

authorized by law to receive and provide care for the child . 
c. Without making any of the orders otherwise provided in this section ,  transfer 

custody of the child to the juvenile court of another state if authorized by and in 
accordance with section 27-20-39 if the child is or is about to become a resident 
of that state. 

d. Require the parents, guardian, or other custodian to participate in treatment. 
e. Appoint a fit and willing relative or other appropriate individual as the child's legal 

g uardian. 
f. I n  cases in which a compelling reason has been shown that. it would not be in the 

child's best interests to return home, to have parental rights terminated, to be 
placed for adoption, to be placed with a fit and wil l ing relative, or to be placed with 
a legal guardian, establish, by order, some other planned permanent living 
arrangement. 

2 .  Un less a child found t o  be  deprived i s  found also to  be  delinquent o r  unruly and not 
amenable to treatment, the child may not be committed to or confined in an institution 
or other facility designed or operated for the benefit of delinquent children. 

27-20-30. 1 .  Disposition of child needing continued foster care services. 
1 .  For purposes of this section, "child" means an individual between the ages of eighteen 

and twenty-one years who is in need of continued foster care services. 
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2. A petition to commence an action under this section must contain information required 
under section 27-20-21 along with an affidavit prepared by the administrative county, 
as determined by the department of human services. 

3. The court shall issue a summons in accordance with section 27-20-22 upon the fi l ing 
of a petition and affidavit. 

4. If  a chi ld is in need of continued foster care services as determined by the department 
of human services and as set forth in a continued foster care agreement, the cou rt  
shall make the following jud icial determination: 
a. That the child is not deprived, delinquent, or unruly but is in need of continued 

foster care services; 
b.  That the chi ld wi l l  remain in or wi l l  return to foster care pursuant to the child's 

continued foster care agreement; 
c. That the child's continued foster care agreement has been willfully entered 

between the department of human services or its agent, the child, and the foster 
care provider; 

d .  That i t  i s  i n  the best interest of  the child to  remain in or  return to  foster care; 
e.  That reasonable efforts were made in accordance with subsection 7 of section 

27-20-32.2; 
f. That the child has attained the age of eighteen or older but does not exceed the 

age of twenty-one years; 
g .  That the child has satisfied the education , employment, or  disability requirements 

under the Fostering Connections to Success and I ncreasing Adoptions Act of 
2008 [Pub. L. 1 1 0-35 1 ]  and as set forth by the department of human services; 

h .  That the admin istrative county, as determined by the department, shall continue 
foster care case management, unless otherwise agreed to or  required by the 
department; 

i. That the administrative county or d ivision of juvenile services must have care and 
placement responsibil ity of the child; 

j. That permanency hearing must be as set forth in section 27-20-36; and 
k. That there are no grounds to file a petition to terminate parental rights under 

chapter 27-20. 
5. Pursuant to section 27-20-37, a court may modify or vacate the judicial determination 

made under subsection 4. 

27-20-3 1 . Disposition of delinquent chi ld. 
If the child is found to be a delinquent child, the court may make any of the following orders 

of d isposition best suited to the child's treatment, rehabil itation, and welfare: 
1 .  Any order authorized by section 27-20-30 for the d isposition of a deprived chi ld ; 
2. Placing the chi ld on probation under the supervision of the d irector, probation officer, 

or other appropriate officer of the court or of the court of another state as provided i n  
section 27-20-41 o r  the director of the county social service board under conditions 
and l imitations the court prescribes; 

3.  Ordering the chi ld to pay a fine if the delinquent act committed by the child constitutes 
manslaughter resulting from the operation of a motor vehicle in violation of section 
1 2 . 1 -1 6-02; negl igent homicide in violation of section 1 2 . 1 - 1 6-03; or driving or being in 
actual physical control of a vehicle in violation of section 39-08-01 ,  or an equivalent 
ordinance. The court may suspend the imposition of a fine imposed pursuant to this 
subsection upon such terms and conditions as the court may determine. Fines 
collected pursuant to this subsection must be paid · i nto the county treasury for 
disposition pursuant to section 29-27-02. 1 ;  

4. Committing the child to the division of juven ile services or to another state department 
to which commitment of delinquent or unruly children may be made. When necessary, 
the commitment order may provide that the child in itially be placed in a secure facility; 

5 .  Ordering the child to make monetary restitution to the victim of the offense or to 
complete a specified number of hours of community service as determined by the 
court, or both; 
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6. Ordering the periodic testing for the use of i l l icit drugs or alcohol pursuant to ru les or 
policies adopted by the supreme court; or 

7. Ordering the chi ld's participation in a juvenile drug court program. 
8. I f  a child is adjudicated delinquent for a violation of section 39-08-01 or equivalent 

ordinance, or if a child is found to have an alcohol concentration of at least two 
one-hundredths of one percent by weight at the time of performance of a test within 
two hours after driving or being in physical control of a motor vehicle, the juvenile court 
shall require the child to participate in  the twenty-four seven sobriety program under 
chapter 54-1 2. 

27-20-3 1 . 1 .  Delinquent children - Suspension of driving privi leges. 
1 .  I f  a juvenile i s  adjudicated delinquent of a n  offense that would be a class A 

misdemeanor or a felony if the offense were committed by an adult, the juvenile court 
may order the suspension of the juvenile's driving privileges for a period of up to six 
months for the first offense. For a second or subsequent offense, the juvenile court 
may order the suspension of the juvenile's driving privileges for up to one year. As a 
condition to the return of driving privileges, the juvenile court may order the successful 
completion of an appropriate driver's examination. 

2. When the juvenile court orders the suspension of a juveni le's driving privileges, the 
juvenile court shall immed iately take possession of the juveni le's driver's license or 
permit and send copies of the court's order to the d irector of the department of 
transportation who shall make notation of the juvenile's suspension of driving 
privileges. 

3. The record of the juveni le's suspension of driving privileges under this section must be 
kept confidential and may not be released except to law enforcement personnel in 
connection with law enforcement activities. The record of a juvenile's suspension of 
driving privileges under this section may not be d isclosed to or shared with the 
l icensing officials of any other state or jurisdiction. At the end of the six-month or 
one-year period, the director shall remove and destroy all record of the juveni le's 
suspension of driving privileges under this section. 

4. This section may not be construed to l imit consensual agreements between the 
juvenile court and the juveni le restricting the driving privileges of the juvenile. 

27-20-3 1 .2. Restitution.  
1 .  a. In addition to a chi ld being ordered to make restitution under section 27-20-31 ,  a 

parent of a child adjudged delinquent may be ordered to make restitution on the 
child's behalf in an amount not exceeding five thousand dollars. 

b. Prior to ordering parental restitution under this section , the court shall hold a 
hearing on the matter with notice given to all interested parties as to the nature 
and amount of the parental restitution. I n  determining whether to order parental 
restitution , the court must take the fol lowing factors into account: 
( 1 )  The abil ity of the parent or parents to pay monetary restitution and the care 

and control exercised by the parents. 
(2) The abil ity of the child to pay monetary restitution .  
(3)  Whether ordering parental restitution would detract from the child's 

treatment, rehabil itation, or welfare. 
(4) The number of delinquent acts, if any, previously committed by the child. 

c. A parental order of restitution must be l imited to those damages directly related to 
the del inquent act and expenses actually incurred as a result of the del inquent 
act. 

2 .  Un less the court directs otherwise, any order of restitution under this section or section 
27-20-31 may be fi led , transcribed, and enforced by the person entitled to the 
restitution in the same manner as civil judgments rendered by the courts of this state 
may be enforced . A child against whose parents a judgment may be entered under this 
section is jointly and severally liable with that child's parents for the amounts up to five 
thousand dollars and solely liable for any amounts over that amount. Any judgment 
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rendered under this section may not be d ischarged in bankruptcy and is not subject to 
the statutes of l imitation provided for in chapter 28-01 and the judgment may not be 
canceled under section 28-20-35. 

27-20-32. Disposition of unruly child. 
If the child is found to be unruly, the court may make any d isposition authorized for a 

delinquent child except commitment to a secure facil ity. If after making the disposition the court 
finds upon a further hearing that the child is not amenable to treatment or rehabilitation under 
the disposition made, i t  may make a d isposition otherwise authorized by section 27-20-31 .  

27-20-32. 1 .  Court order requi red for removal of child.  
An order of disposition or other adjudication in a proceeding under this chapter, in those 

cases in which a chi ld is removed from the home of a parent, custodian ,  or guardian for the 
reason that continuation in such home would be contrary to the welfare of such child, must 
specifically state that a continuation of the child in the home of the parent, custodian , or 
guard ian would be contrary to the welfare of the child. 

27-20-32.2. Reasonable efforts to prevent removal or  to reunify - When required. 
1 .  As used in this section, "reasonable efforts" means the exercise of due di l igence, by 

the agency granted authority over the child under this chapter, to use appropriate and 
available services to meet the needs of the chi ld and the chi ld's family i n  order to 
prevent removal of the child from the child's family or, after removal ,  to use appropriate 
and available services to eliminate the need for removal, to reun ite the child and the 
child's family, and to maintain family connections. In  determining reasonable efforts to 
be made with respect to a child under this section ,  and in making reasonable efforts, 
the child's health and safety must be the paramount concern. 

2 .  Except as  provided in subsection 4, reasonable efforts must be made to preserve 
families, reun ify families, and maintain family connections: 
a. Prior to the placement of a child in foster care, to prevent or el iminate the need 

for removing the child from the chi ld's home; 
b. To make it possible for a chi ld to return safely to the child's home; 
c. To place siblings in the same foster care, relative, guardianship, or adoptive 

placement, un less it is determined that such a joint placement would be contrary 
to the safety or well-being of any of the siblings; and 

d .  I n  the case of siblings removed from their home who are not jointly placed, to 
provide for frequent visitation or other ongoing interaction between the sibl ings, 
unless it is contrary to the safety or well-being of any of the sibl ings. 

3. I f  the court or the child's custodian determined that continuation of reasonable efforts, 
as described in subsection 2, is inconsistent with the permanency plan for the child , 
reasonable efforts must be made to place the child in a timely manner in  accordance 
with the permanency plan and to complete whatever steps are necessary to finalize 
the permanent placement of the child . 

4 .  Reasonable efforts of the type described in subsection 2 are not requ ired if: 
a .  A court of competent jurisdiction has determined that a parent has subjected a 

child to aggravated circumstances; or 
b. The parental rights of the parent, with respect to another chi ld of the parent, have 

been involuntarily terminated. 
5 .  Efforts to place a child for adoption , with a fit and  will ing relative or  other appropriate 

individual as a legal guardian, or in another planned permanent living arrangement, 
may be made concurrently with reasonable efforts of the type described in  
subsection 2.  

6 .  Removal of  a child from the child's home for placement in foster care must be based 
on judicial findings stated in the court's order, and determined on a case-by-case basis 
in a manner that complies with the requirements of titles IV-8 and IV-E of the Social 
Security Act [42 U .S.C. 620 et seq. and 42 U.S.C.  6701 et seq .], as amended, and 
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federal regulations adopted thereunder, provided that this subsection may not provide 
a basis for overturning an otherwise valid court order. 

7. For the purpose of section 27-20-30. 1 ,  reasonable efforts were made under this 
section to meet the ch ild's needs before a foster care placement for a child remain ing 
in care for continued foster care purposes. 

27-20-32.3. Definitions - Active efforts - When required. 
When an agency is seeking to effect a foster care placement of, or termination of parental 

rights to an Ind ian child , the court shall require active efforts as set forth in 25 U .S.C. 1 91 2(d). 

27-20-33. Order of adjudication - Noncriminal.  
1 .  An order of d isposition or other adjudication in a proceeding under this chapter is not a 

conviction of crime and does not impose any civil disability ordinarily resulting from a 
conviction or operate to d isqualify the child in any civil service application or 
appointment. A child may not be committed or transferred to a penal institution or other 
facility used primarily for the execution of sentences of persons convicted of a crime. 

2 .  The disposition o f  a child and evidence adduced in a hearing i n  juveni le court may not 
be used against the child in any proceeding in any court other than a juven ile court, 
whether before or after reaching majority, except for impeachment or in dispositional 
proceedings after conviction of a felony for the purposes of a presentence 
investigation and report. 

27-20-34. Transfer to other courts. 
1 .  After a petition has been filed alleging delinquency based on conduct which is 

designated a crime or public offense under the laws, including local ordinances or 
resolutions of this state, the court before hearing the petition on its merits shall transfer 
the offense for prosecution to the appropriate court having jurisdiction of the offense if: 
a. The child is over sixteen or more years of age and requests the transfer; 
b. The child was fourteen years of age or more at the time of the alleged conduct 

and the court determines that there is probable cause to believe the child 
committed the al leged delinquent act and the delinquent act involves the offense 
of murder or attempted murder; gross sexual imposition or the attempted gross 
sexual imposition of a victim by force or by threat of imminent death,  serious 
bodily injury, or kidnapping ; or the manufacture, delivery, or possession with intent 
to manufacture or deliver a controlled substance in violation of subdivision a or b 
of subsection 1 of section 1 9-03 . 1 -23, except for the manufacture, del ivery, or 
possession with intent to manufacture or deliver marijuana in  an amount less than 
one pound [.45 kilogram]; or the gratuitous delivery of a controlled substance not 
a narcotic drug or methamphetamine which is a singular and isolated event 
i nvolving an amount of controlled substance sufficient solely for a single personal 
use; or 

c. ( 1 )  The child was fourteen or more years of age at the time of the alleged 
conduct; 

(2) A hearing on whether the transfer should be made is held in conformity with 
sections 27-20-24, 27-20-26, and 27-20-27; 

(3) Notice in writing of the t ime, place, and purpose of the hearing is given to 
the child and the child's parents, guardian, or other custodian at least three 
days before the hearing; and 

(4) The court finds that there are reasonable grounds to believe that: 
(a) The child committed the delinquent act alleged; 
(b) The child is not amenable to treatment or rehabilitation as a juvenile 

through available programs; 
(c) The child is not treatable in an institution for individuals who are 

intellectually disabled or who are mentally i l l ;  
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(d) The interests of the community require that the child be placed under 
legal restraint or d iscipline; and 

(e) If the child is fourteen or fifteen years old, the child committed a 
delinquent act involving the infl iction or threat of serious bodily harm. 

2. The burden of proving reasonable grounds to believe that a child is amenable to 
treatment or rehabil itation as a juveni le through available programs is on the child i n  
those cases in which the al leged delinquent act involves the offense of  manslaughter, 
aggravated assault, robbery, arson involving an inhabited structure, or escape 
involving the use of a firearm, destructive device, or other dangerous weapon or in  
cases in wh ich the alleged delinquent act involves an offense which if committed by an 
adult would be a felony and the child has two or more previous delinquency 
adjudications for offenses which would be a felony if committed by an adult. 

3 .  I n  determining a child's amenability to treatment and rehabilitation ,  the court shall 
consider and make specific findings on the following factors: 
a. Age; 
b. Mental capacity; 
c. Maturity; 
d .  Degree of criminal sophistication exhibited; 
e.  Previous record ; 
f. Success or fai lure of previous attempts to rehabilitate; 

g .  Whether the juvenile can be rehabil itated prior to expiration of  juveni le court 
jurisdiction; 

h .  Any psychological, probation ,  or institutional reports; 
i. The nature and circumstances of the acts for which the transfer is sought; 
j. The prospect for adequate protection of the public; and 
k. Any other relevant factors. 

4. Any transfer operates to terminate the juveni le court's jurisdiction over the child with 
respect to any future offense if the child is ultimately convicted of the offense g iving 
rise to the transfer. 

5. No child subject to the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, either before or after reaching 
eighteen years of age, may be prosecuted for an offense previously committed unless 
the case has been transferred as provided in this section. 

6.  Statements made by the child at the hearing under this section are not admissible 
against the child over objection in the criminal proceedings following the transfer 
except for impeachment. 

7. If  the case is not transferred, the judge who conducted the hearing may not over 
objection of an interested party preside at the hearing on the petition. If the case is 
transferred to a court of which the judge who conducted the hearing is also a judge, 
the judge likewise is disqualified over objection from presiding in the prosecution. 

8. A person at least twenty years of age who committed an offense while a child and was 
not adjudicated for the offense in juveni le court may be prosecuted in district court as 
an adult, unless the state intentional ly delayed the prosecution to avoid juveni le court 
jurisd iction. The d istrict court has original and exclusive jurisd iction for the prosecution 
under this subsection. 

27-20-35. Disposition of mentally i l l ,  mentally retarded, alcohol, or drug abusing child. 
Repealed by S .L. 2007, ch. 274, § 36. 

27-20-36. Limitations of time on orders of disposition. 
1 .  An order terminating parental rights or establishing a legal guardianship is without l imit 

as to duration. 
2. An order of disposition committing a delinquent or unruly chi ld to the d ivision of 

juvenile services continues in force for not more than twelve months, excluding any 
period of time the child is on parole from an institution ,  or until the child is sooner 
discharged by an institution. 
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a. The court which made the order may extend its duration for additional  
twelve-month periods subject to l ike discharge, if: 
( 1 )  A hearing is held upon motion of the d ivision, or on the court's own motion ,  

prior to the expiration of the order; 
(2) Reasonable notice of the hearing and an opportun ity to be heard are given 

to the child and the parent, guardian, or other custodian; and 
(3) The court finds that the extension is necessary for the treatment or 

rehabilitation of the chi ld. 
b. A permanency hearing must be conducted within thirty days after a cou rt 

determines that aggravated circumstances of the type described in subdivision a ,  
c ,  d ,  or e of  subsection 3 of section 27-20-02 exist, or  within twelve months after a 
child, subject to an order of d isposition under this subsection, is considered to 
have entered foster care, or is continued in foster care following a previous 
permanency hearing,  including a hearing conducted on a petition filed under 
section 27-20-30. 1 .  The permanency hearing may be conducted: 
( 1 )  By the d ivision of juvenile services as a placement hearing under chapter 

27-2 1 ; or 
(2) By the court, if the court requires, or if it appears that an appropriate 

permanency plan could not be carried out without exceeding the authority of 
the division of juvenile services. 

3. Except as provided in subsection 2, an order of d isposition pursuant to which a child is 
placed in foster care may not continue in force for more than twelve months after the 
chi ld is considered to have entered foster care. Before the extension of any court order 
l imited under this subsection, a permanency hearing must be conducted.  Any other 
order of disposition may not continue in  force for more than twelve months. 

4.  Except as provided in subsection 1 ,  the court may terminate an order of disposition 
before the expiration of  the order or extend its duration for further periods. An order of 
extension may be made if: 
a. A hearing is held before the expiration of the order upon motion of a party or on 

the court's own motion ; 
b. Reasonable notice of the hearing and opportunity to be heard are g iven to the 

parties affected; 
c. The court finds the extension is necessary to accomplish the purposes of the 

order extended; and 
d. The extension does not exceed twelve months from the expiration of an order 

l imited by subsection 3 or two years from the expiration of any other limited order. 
5.  Except as provided in  subsection 2 ,  the court may terminate an order of d isposition or 

extension prior to its expiration, on or without an application of a party, if i t  appears to 
the court that the purposes of the order have been accomplished. If a party may be 
adversely affected by the order of termination, the order may be made only after 
reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard have been g iven to the party. 

6.  Except as provided in subsection 1 ,  when the child attains the age of twenty years, al l  
orders affecting the chi ld then in force terminate and the child is discharged from 
further obligation or control. 

7. If  an order of disposition is made with respect to a child under the age of ten years 
pursuant to which the child is placed in foster care without terminating parental rights 
and the parent and child relationship, the court, before extending the duration of the 
order, shall determine upon the extension hearing whether the child is adoptable and 
whether termination of those rights and that relationship is warranted under section 
27-20-44 and is in the best interest of the child. In that case the notice of the extension 
hearing must also inform the parties affected that the court wil l determine whether the 
child is adoptable and whether termination of their parental rights and the parent and 
child relationship is warranted and in the best i nterest of the child and that a further 
order of disposition may be made by the court placing the child with a view to 
adoption. If the court determines that the child is adoptable and that termination of 
parental rights and the parent and child relationship is warranted and is in the best 
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interest of the child, the court shall make a further order of d isposition terminating  
those rights and that relationship and committing the child under section 27-20-47. 

27-20-37. Modification or vacation of orders. 
Superseded by N.D .R.Juv.P. ,  Rule 1 6  and N.D.R.Crim.P. ,  Rule 43. 

27-20-38. Rights and duties of legal custodian. 
A custodian to whom legal custody has been g iven by the court under this chapter has :  
1 .  The right to the physical custody of the child and the right to determine the nature of 

the care, placement, and treatment of the child , i ncluding ordinary medical care as well 
as medical or surg ical treatment for a serious physical condition or i l lness which in  the 
opinion of a licensed physician requires prompt treatment, except for any l imits the 
court may impose. 

2 .  The right and duty to provide for the care, protection, training, and education and the 
physical, mental, and moral welfare of the child, subject to the conditions and 
l imitations of the order and to the remaining rights and duties of the child's parents or 
guardian. 

3. A duty within thirty days after the removal of a chi ld from the custody of the parent or 
parents of the chi ld for the purpose of placement into foster care, to exercise due 
d i ligence to identify and provide notice to a l l  parents, grandparents, and any other 
adult relative suggested by the parents and grandparents, subject to exceptions due to 
family or domestic violence, that: 
a. Specifies that the child has been or is being removed from the custody of the 

parent or parents of the chi ld; 
b. Explains the options the relative has under federal ,  state, and local law to 

participate in the care and placement of the child, i ncluding any options that may 
be lost by fail ing to respond to the notice; 

c. Describes the requirements and standards to become a foster family home and 
the additional services and supports that are available for children placed in that 
home; and 

d .  Describes how the relative of the child may enter into an  agreement with the 
department to receive a subsid ized guard ianship payment. 

27-20-39. Disposition of non resident child. 
1 .  I f  the court finds that a child who has been adjudged to have committed a delinquent 

act or to be unruly or deprived is or is about to become a resident of another state 
which has adopted the Uniform Juveni le Court Act, or a substantially similar Act which 
includes provisions corresponding to sections 27-20-39 and 27-20-40, the court may 
defer hearing on need for treatment or rehabil itation and disposition and request by 
any appropriate means the juvenile court of the county of the child's residence or 
prospective residence to accept jurisdiction of the chi ld. 

2. If  the chi ld becomes a resident of another state while on probation or under protective 
supervision under order of a juvenile court of this state, the court may request the 
juvenile court of the county of the state in which the child has become a resident to 
accept jurisd iction of the child and to continue the child's probation or protective 
supervision . 

3 .  Upon receipt and fi l ing of  an acceptance, the court of  this state shall transfer custody 
of the child to the accepting court and cause the child to be delivered to the person 
designated by that court to receive the child's custody. It also shall provide that court 
with certified copies of the order adjudging the child to be a delinquent, unruly, or 
deprived child, of the order of transfer, and if the chi ld is on probation or under 
protective supervision under order of the court, of the order of disposition. It also shall 
provide that court with a statement of the facts found by the court of this state and any 
recommendations and other information it considers of assistance to the accepting 
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court in making a d isposition of the case or in supervising the child on probation or 
otherwise. 

4 .  Upon compliance with subsection 3,  the jurisd iction of  the court of this state over the 
child is  terminated. 

27-20-40. Disposition of resident chi ld received from another state. 
1 .  I f  a juvenile court of another state which has adopted the Uniform Juvenile Court Act, 

or a substantially similar Act which includes provisions corresponding to sections 
27-20-39 and 27-20-40, requests a juvenile court of this state to accept jurisdiction of a 
child found by the requesting court to have committed a delinquent act or to be an  
unruly or  deprived child, and  the court of  this state finds, after investigation that the 
chi ld is, or is about to become, a resident of the county in which the court presides, it 
shall promptly and not later than fourteen days after receiving the request issue its 
acceptance in writing to the requesting court and direct its director of juvenile court or 
other person designated by it to take physical custody of the child from the requesting  
court and bring the child before the court of  this state or  make other appropriate 
provisions for the child's appearance before the court. 

2. Upon the fil ing of certified copies of the orders of the requesting court determining that 
the child committed a delinquent act or is an unruly or deprived child and committing 
the child to the jurisdiction of the juvenile court of this state, the court of this state shall 
immediately fix a time for a hearing on the need for treatment or rehabilitation and 
d isposition of the child or on the continuance of any probation or protective 
supervision . 

3 .  The hearing and notice thereof and a l l  subsequent proceedings are governed by this 
chapter. The court may make any order of d isposition permitted by the facts and this 
chapter. The orders of the requesting court are conclusive that the child committed the 
del inquent act or is an unruly or deprived child and of the facts found by the court in 
making the orders, subject only to section 27-20-37. If the requesting court has made 
an order placing the child on probation or under protective supervision, a l ike order 
shall be entered by the court of this state. The court may modify or vacate the order in 
accordance with section 27-20-37. 

27-20-41 . Ordering out-of-state supervision. 
1 .  Subject to the provisions of this chapter governing d ispositions and to the extent that 

funds of the county are available, the court may place a child in the custody of a 
suitable person in another state. On obtaining the written consent of a juvenile court of 
another state which has adopted the Uniform Juveni le Court Act or a substantially 
similar Act which includes provisions corresponding to sections 27-20-41 and 
27-20-42, the court of this state may order that the child be placed under the 
supervision of a probation officer or other appropriate official designated by the 
accepting court. One certified copy of the order must be sent to the accepting court 
and another filed with the clerk of the board of county commissioners of the county of 
the requesting court of this state. 

2.  The reasonable cost of the supervision,  including the expenses of necessary travel, 
must be borne by the county of the requesting court of this state. Upon receiving a 
certified statement signed by the judge of the accepting court of the cost incurred by 
the supervision , the court of this state shall certify if it appears that the sum so stated 
was reasonably incurred and file it with the county auditor of the county for payment. 
The appropriate officials shall thereupon issue a warrant for the sum stated payable to 
the appropriate officials of the county of the accepting court. 

27-20-42. Supervision u nder out-of-state order. 
1 .  Upon receiving a request of a juvenile court of another state which has adopted the 

Uniform Juvenile Court Act, or a substantially similar Act which includes provisions 
corresponding to sections 27-20-41 and 27-20-42 to provide supervision of a child 
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under the jurisdiction of that court, a court of this state may issue its written 
acceptance to the requesting court and designate its director of juvenile court, 
probation officer, or other appropriate officer who is to provide supervision , stating the 
probable cost per day therefor. 

2 .  Upon the receipt and fil ing of  a certified copy of the order of  the requesting court 
placing the child under the supervision of the officer so designated, the officer shall 
arrange for the reception of the child from the requesting court, provide supervision 
pursuant to the order and this chapter, and report thereon from time to time together 
with any recommendations the officer may have to the requesting court. 

3. The court in this state from time to time shall certify to the requesting court the cost of 
supervision that has been incurred and request payment therefor from the appropriate 
officials of the county of the requesting court to the appropriate officials of the county of 
the accepting court. 

4.  The court of th is state at any time may terminate supervision by notifying the 
requesting court. I n  that case, or if the supervision is terminated by the requesting 
court, the officer of the court supervising the child shall return the child to a 
representative of the requesting court authorized to receive the child. 

27-20-43. Powers of out-of-state probation officers. 
If a child has been placed on probation or protective supervision by a juvenile court of 

another state which has adopted the Uniform Juvenile Court Act or a substantially similar Act 
which includes provisions corresponding to this section, and the child is i n  this state with or 
without the permission of that court, the juvenile supervisor or probation officer of that court or 
other person designated by that court to supervise or take custody of the child has all the 
powers and privileges in  this state with respect to the child as given by this chapter to l ike 
officers or persons of this state, including the right of visitation, counseling, control, and 
d i rection, taking into custody, and returning to that state . 

27-20-44. Termination of parental rights. 
1 .  The court by order may terminate the parental rights of a parent with respect to the 

parent's child if: 
a .  The parent has abandoned the child; 
b. The child is subjected to aggravated circumstances as defined under 

subsection 3 of section 27-20-02; 
c. The child is a deprived child and the court finds: 

( 1 ) The conditions and causes of the deprivation are l ikely to continue or will not 
be remedied and that by reason thereof the child is suffering or will probably 
suffer serious physical ,  mental ,  moral, or emotional harm; or 

(2) The child has been in foster care, in the care, custody, and control of the 
department, or a county social service board , or, in cases arising out of an 
adjudication by the juvenile court that a child is an unruly child , the d ivision 
of juvenile services, for at least four hundred fifty out of the previous six 
hundred sixty nights; or 

d .  The written consent of the parent acknowledged before the court has been given.  
2.  I f  the court does not make an order of termination of parental rights, i t  may grant an 

order under section 27-20-30 if the court finds from clear and convincing evidence that 
the child is a deprived child. 

27-20-45. P roceeding for termi nation of parental rights. 
1 .  The petition must comply with section 27-20-21 and state clearly that an order for 

termination of parental rights is requested and that the effect will be as stated in 
section 27-20-46. 

2.  If both of the natural parents of the child are not named in the petition either as 
petitioner or as respondent, the court shall cause inquiry to be made of the petitioner 
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3. 

4.  

5.  

6. 

and other appropriate persons in an effort to identify an unnamed parent. The inquiry 
must include, to the extent necessary and appropriate, al l  of the following:  
a .  Whether any man is presumed to be the father of the child under chapter 1 4-20. 
b. Whether the natural mother of the child was cohabiting with a man at the time of 

conception or birth of the child . 
c. Whether the natural mother of the child has received from any man support 

payments or promises of support with respect to the child or in connection with 
her pregnancy. 

d .  Whether any person has formally or informally acknowledged or declared that 
person's possible parentage of the child. 

e. Whether any person claims any right to custody of the child. 
The court shall add as respondent to the petition and cause to be served with a 
summons any person identified by the court as an unnamed parent, un less the person 
has rel inquished parental rights, or parental rights have been previously terminated by 
a court. 
I f  the court, after inqu iry, is unable to identify an unnamed parent and no person has 
appeared in the proceeding claiming to be an unnamed parent of the child or to have 
any right of custody of the child , the court shall enter an order terminating all parental 
rights of the unnamed parent with reference to the child and the parent and child 
relationship. 
If  a petition for termination of parental rights is made by a parent of the child under this 
section or if a parent consents to termination of parental rights under section 27-20-44, 
that parent is entitled under section 27-20-26 to legal counsel during all stages of a 
proceeding to terminate the parent and child relationship. 
Subject to the d isposition of an appeal ,  upon the expiration of thirty days after an order 
terminating parental rights is issued under this section, the order cannot be questioned 
by any person, including the petitioner, in any manner, or upon any ground, i ncluding 
fraud, misrepresentation, fai lure to g ive any required notice, or lack of jurisdiction of 
the parties or of the subject matter, un less the person retained custody of the child. 

27-20-46. Effect of order terminating parental rights or appointing a legal guardian. 
1 .  An order terminating parental rights of a parent terminates al l  the parent's rights and 

obligations with respect to the chi ld and of the chi ld to or through the parent arising 
from the parental relationship. The parent is not thereafter entitled to notice of 
proceedings for the adoption of the child by another nor has the parent any right to 
object to the adoption or otherwise to participate in the proceedings. 

2. An order appointing a legal guardian terminates any authority of a parent that is 
granted to the legal guardian under that order. A parent subject to such an order is 
entitled to treatment as a party at any subsequent juvenile court proceeding regarding 
the child. 

27-20-47. Disposition upon termination of parental rights 

1 .  If, upon entering an order terminating the parental rights of a parent, there is no parent 
having parental rights, the court shall : 
a .  Commit the child to the custody of the executive director of the department of 

human services or a licensed child-placing agency wi l l ing to accept custody for 
the purpose of placing the child for adoption or, in the absence thereof, in a foster 
home; 

b. Appoint a fit and wil l ing relative or other appropriate individual as the child's legal 
guardian; or 

c. Establish some other planned permanent living arrangement. 
2 .  The custodian has the rights of a legal custodian and authority to consent to the child's 

adoption ,  marriage, enlistment in the armed forces of the Un ited States,  and surg ical 
and other medical treatment. 
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3. I f  the ch ild is not placed for adoption within twelve months after the date of the order 
and a legal guard ianship or other planned permanent living arrangement for the ch ild 
has not been established by a court of competent jurisdiction, the child must be 
returned to the court issuing the original termination order for entry of further orders for 
the care, custody, and control of the child. 

27-20-48. Guardian ad l item - Immunity. 
The court at any stage of a proceeding under this chapter, on application of a party or on its 

own motion , shall appoint a guardian ad litem for a child who is a party to the proceeding if the 
chi ld has no parent, guardian, or custodian appearing on the child's behalf or their interests 
conflict with the child's or in any other case in which the interests of the child require a guardian .  
A party to the proceeding o r  that party's employee o r  representative may not b e  appointed. A 
guard ian ad litem appointed under this section is immune from civil l iabil ity for damages for any 
act or omission arising out of that individual's duties and responsibil ities as a guardian ad litem, 
unless the act or omission constitutes gross or willful negligence or gross or willful misconduct. 

27-20-48 . 1 .  Appointment of legal g uardian. 
The court may establish a guard ianship as a dispositional alternative if a child has been 

adjudicated as deprived, unruly, or delinquent. 

27-20-48.2. Powers and d uties of guardian of child. 
A guardian of a child has the powers and responsibi lities of a legal custodian if there is a 

parent with remaining parental rights. If there is no parent with remaining parental rights, the 
guardian has the rights of a legal custodian and the authority to consent to the chi ld's adoption , 
marriage, enlistment in the armed forces of the Un ited States, and surgical and other medical 
treatment. A guardian is not liable to third persons by reason of the parental relationship for acts 
of the child. I n  particu lar, and without qualifying the foregoing , a guard ian has the following 
powers and duties: 

1 .  The guard ian must take reasonable care of the child's personal effects and commence 
protective proceedings if necessary to protect other property of the child. 

2.  The guard ian may receive money payable for the support of the ward to the child's 
parent, guardian, or custodian under the terms of any statutory benefit or insurance 
system, or any private contract, devise, trust, conservatorship, or custodianship. The 
guardian also may receive money or property of the child paid or delivered by virtue of 
section 30. 1 -26-03. Any sums so received must be applied to the child's current needs 
for support, care, and education. The guard ian must exercise due care to conserve 
any excess for the child's future needs unless a conservator has been appointed for 
the estate of the child, in which case excess must be paid over at least annually to the 
conservator. Sums so received by the guard ian are not to be used for compensation 
for the guardian's services except as approved by order of court or as determined by a 
du ly appointed conservator other than the guard ian. A guardian may institute 
proceedings to compel the performance by any person of a duty to support the child or 
to pay sums for the welfare of the child. 

3 .  The guard ian is empowered to facil itate the child's education ,  social, or other activities 
and to authorize medical or other professional care, treatment, or advice. A guard ian is 
not liable by reason of this consent for injury to the child resulting from the negligence 
or acts of third persons un less it would have been i l legal for a parent to have 
consented. A guardian may consent to the marriage or adoption of the child. 

4. A guard ian shall file an annual report with the court informing the court of the status or 
condition of the child and provide a copy of the report to the child. The report must 
include changes that have occurred since the previous reporting period and an 
accounting of the child's estate. The guard ian shall report whether the child has 
resided in an institution ,  whether the child continues to require guardianship, and 
whether any powers of the guard ian should be increased or l imited. The fil ing of a 
report and its acceptance by the court or clerk of district court does not constitute an 
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adjudication or a determination of the merits of the report nor does the fi l ing of the 
report constitute the court's approval of the report. The office of state cou rt 
administrator shall provide printed forms that may be used to fulfill report ing 
requirements. 

27-20-48.3. Termination of appointment of guardian - General. 
A guard ian's authority and responsibi lity terminates upon the death, resignation ,  or removal 

of the guardian, or upon the child's death , adoption, marriage, or attainment of majority, but 
termination d9es not affect the guardian's l iabil ity for prior acts nor the guardian's obligation to 
account for funds and assets of the child. 

27-20-48.4. Resignation or  removal proceedings. 
1 .  A guard ian may petition for permission to resign .  A petition for permission to resign 

may include a request for appointment of a successor guardian. Resignation of a 
guardian does not terminate the guardianship until it has been approved by the court. 

2 .  Any party to the  proceeding in which the child's status was adjudicated, the director, or  
the child , i f  fourteen or  more years of  age, may petition for removal of  a guard ian on  
the grounds that the removal would be in the best interest of  the child. A petition for 
removal may include a request for appointment of a successor guard ian . 

3 .  After notice and hearing on  a petition for removal or  for permission to resign ,  the court 
may terminate the guard ianship and make any further order that may be appropriate. 

4 .  If, at  any time in  the proceeding, the court determines that the interests of  the child 
are, or may be, inadequately represented , it may appoint an attorney to represent the 
child , g iving consideration to the preference of the child if the child is fourteen or more 
years of age. 

27-20-49. Costs and expenses for care of child. 
1 .  The following expenses are a charge upon the funds of the county upon certification 

thereof by the court: 
a. The cost of medical and other examinations and treatment of a child ordered by 

the court. 
b. The cost of care and support of a chi ld committed by the court to the legal 

custody of a public agency other than an institution for delinquent children or to a 
private agency or ind ividual other than a parent. 

c. The cost of any necessary transportation for medical and other examinations and 
treatment of a child ordered by the court unless the chi ld is in the legal custody of 
a state agency. 

2 .  The commission o n  legal counsel for ind igents shall pay reasonable compensation for 
services and related expenses of counsel provided at public expense for a party and 
the supreme court shall pay reasonable compensation for a guardian ad litem. The 
attorney general shall pay the witness fees, mileage, and travel expense of witnesses 
incurred in the proceedings under this chapter in the amount and at the rate provided 
for in section 3 1 -0 1 -1 6. Expenses of the state include the cost of any necessary 
transportation for medical and other examinations and treatment of a child ordered by 
the court if the child is in the legal custody of a state agency in which case the cost 
must be reimbursed to the county by that state agency at the state mileage rate, 
excluding meals and lodging, plus twenty-nine cents per mile. 

3. If, after due notice to the parents or other persons legally obligated to care for and 
support the child, and to a chi ld over the age of eighteen, and after afford ing them an 
opportun ity to be heard ,  the court finds that they are financially able to pay all or part of 
the costs and expenses stated in subsection 1 ,  and expenses payable by the supreme 
court under subsection 2, the court may order them to pay the same and prescribe the 
manner of payment. Unless otherwise ordered, payment shall be made to the clerk of 
the juvenile court for remittance to the person to whom compensation is due, or if the 
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costs and expenses have been paid by the county or the state to the county treasurer 

\� f),� 
of the county or to the state treasurer. I' 

4. Un less it finds that there is no l ikelihood that the party is or wi l l  be able to pay 
attorney's fees and expenses, the court, in its order or judgment following a hearing 
under this chapter, shal l  order the parents or other persons legally obligated to care for 
and support the child , and the child if over the age of eighteen, to reimburse the 
presumed amount of indigent defense costs and expenses, as determined by the 
commission on legal counsel for indigents , and shall notify the party of the right to a 
hearing on the reimbursement amount. If the party or the state requests a hearing 
within thirty days of receiving notice under this subsection, the court shall schedule a 
hearing at which the actual amount of attorney's fees and expenses must be shown . I n  
determining the amount of reimbursement and method of payment, the court shall 
consider the financial resources of the party and the nature of the burden that 
reimbursement of costs and expenses will impose. 

5. A party who is required to reimburse indigent defense costs and expenses and who is 
not wil lfully in default in that reimbursement may at any time petition the court to waive 
reimbursement of all or any portion of the attorney's fees and expenses. If the court is 
satisfied that reimbursement of the amount due wil l  impose undue hardship on the 
party or the party's immediate family, the court may waive reimbursement of al l  or any 
portion of the amount due or modify the method of payment. 

27-20-50. P rotective order. 
At any stage of the proceedings, upon application of a party or on the court's own motion,  

the court may make an  order restraining or otherwise controll ing the conduct of a person if: 
1 .  The court finds that the conduct: 

a. Is or may be detrimental or harmful to the child ; or 
b. Wil l  tend to defeat the execution of an order of d isposition;  and 

2 .  Due notice of the application o r  motion and the grounds therefor and a n  opportun ity to 
be heard have been given to the person against whom the order is directed. 

27-20-5 1 .  Inspection of court files and records. 
1 .  Except as provided in this section, all files and records of the juvenile court, whether in  

the office of  the clerk of  district court or juvenile court, of  a proceeding under this 
chapter are closed to the public. Juven ile court files and records are open to inspection 
only by: 
a. The judge and staff of the juvenile court. 
b.  The parties to the proceeding or their counsel or the guardian ad litem of any 

party. 
c. A public or private agency or i nstitution providing supervision or having custody of 

the child under order of the juvenile court, which must be given a copy of the 
findings and order of disposition when it receives custody of the child. 

d. Any court and its probation and other officials or professional staff and the 
attorney for the defendant for use in preparing a presentence report in  a criminal 
case in  which the defendant is convicted and who, prior to the criminal case, had 
been a party to the proceeding in juvenile court. 

e .  The professional staff of the uniform crime victims compensation program when 
necessary for the d ischarge of their duties pursuant to chapter 54-23.4. 

f. A staff member of the d ivision of children and family services of the department of 
human services or a law enforcement officer when necessary for the performance 
of that person's duties under section 50-1 1 . 1 -06.2 or the National Child Protection 
Act of 1 993 [Pub. L. 1 03-209; 1 07 Stat. 2490; 42 U .S.C.  5 1 1 9  et seq.] . 

g .  An employee or agent of  the department of  human services when necessary for 
performance of that individual's duty under chapter 50-1 1 or 50-1 1 . 1 to investigate 
the background of an individual living or working in the facility, home, or residence 
for which licensure is sought. 
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h. A criminal justice agency if the juvenile is required to register under section 
1 2 . 1 -32-1 5.  

2.  Juven ile court files and records are also open to inspection with written leave of a 
juveni le cou rt judge or judicial referee to whom juvenile court matters have been 
referred: 
a. Upon a showing in writing of a legitimate interest in a proceeding or in the work of 

the juveni le court, but only to the extent necessary to respond to the legitimate 
interest; and 

b. By the principal of any public or private school that is a member of the North 
Dakota high school activities association , or the superintendent of any school 
district that has one or more schools involved in the association, but only to the 
extent necessary to enforce the rules and regulations of the North Dakota high 
school activities association .  

3.  I n  a proceeding under this chapter, if the juvenile court finds that a child committed a 
delinquent or unru ly act that constitutes a violation of a law or local ord inance 
govern ing the operation of a motor vehicle or a delinquent act of manslaughter or 
negligent homicide caused by the child's operation of a motor vehicle, the juveni le 
court shall report the finding to the director of the department of transportation within 
ten days. 

4. Following an adjudication of delinquency for an offense that would be a felony if 
committed by an adult, the juveni le's school principal ,  chief administrative officer, or 
designated school guidance counselor, if requested, must be allowed access to the 
disposition order. Any other juvenile court files and records of a chi ld may be d isclosed 
to a superintendent or principal of the school in which the child is currently enrolled or 
in which the child wishes to enroll if the child appears to present a danger to self or to 
the students or staff of the school. 

5. Following an adjudication of delinquency for an offense that results in the prohibitions 
included in subsection 1 or 2 of section 62 . 1 -02-01 , if requested, a law enforcement 
officer must be allowed access to the disposition order. 

6.  The juveni le court may notify a referring agency of the disposition of a case. 
7. Notwithstanding that juvenile court records are closed to the public, nothing in this 

section may be construed to l imit the release upon request of general information not 
identifying the identity of any juvenile, witness, or victim in any proceeding under this 
chapter. Files in  the clerk of court's office are open to public inspection if the related 
hearing was open to the public under section 27-20-24. 

27-20-5 1 . 1 . Disclosure of i nformation needed to apprehend j uvenile. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the name, photographs, fingerprints, or other 

identifying information of a juvenile who is al leged to have committed a delinquent act involving 
actual or threat of serious bodily injury that would constitute a felony if committed by an adult or 
who has escaped or left without authorization from a secure facility may be released by law 
enforcement, the division of juvenile services, or the juvenile court for purposes of apprehending 
the juvenile. 

27-20-52. Law enforcement and correctional faci l ity records. 
1 .  Un less a charge of delinquency is transferred for criminal prosecution under section 

27-20-34, the interest of national security requires, or the court otherwise orders in the 
interest of the child, the law enforcement and correctional facil ity records and files of a 
child al leged or found to be delinquent, unruly, or deprived are not open to public 
inspection; but inspection of these records and files is permitted by: 
a.  A juvenile court having the child before it  in any proceeding; 
b. Counsel for a party to the proceeding; 
c. The officers of public institutions or agencies to whom the child is or may be 

committed; 
d .  Law enforcement officers of other jurisdictions when necessary for the discharge 

of their official duties; 
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e. A court in which the child is convicted of a criminal offense for the purpose of a 
presentence report or other d ispositional proceeding, or by officials of correctional 
facilities to which the child is detained or committed ,  or by the parole board , the 
governor, or the pardon advisory board, if one has been appointed , in considering 
the child's parole or discharge or in exercising supervision over the child ; 

f. The professional staff of the uniform crime victims compensation program when 
necessary for the d ischarge of its duties pursuant to chapter 54-23.4; and 

g. A superintendent or principal of the school in which the child is currently enrolled 
or of a school in which the child wishes to enroll. 

2 .  Notwithstanding that law enforcement records and files of a chi ld alleged or found to 
be delinquent, unruly, or deprived are not open to public inspection, this section does 
not l imit the release of general information that does not identify the identity of the 
child. 

27-20-52. 1 .  Law enforcement database. 
Repealed by S.L.  1 999, ch. 1 31 ,  § 2 .  

27-20-53. Children's fingerprints, photographs. 
1 .  No child under fourteen years of age may be fingerprinted in the investigation of a 

crime except as provided in this section .  Fingerprints of a child who is referred to the 
court may be taken and filed by law enforcement officers in investigating the 
commission of the following crimes: murder, manslaughter, gross sexual imposition, 
robbery, aggravated assault, burglary, theft, forgery, and un lawful possession or use of 
a handgun. 

2.  Fingerprint files of children must be kept separate from those of adults. Copies of 
fingerprints known to be those of a child may be maintained locally and copies may be 
sent to a central state depository but may not be sent to a federal depository unless 
needed in the interest of national security. 

3. Fingerprint files of children may be inspected by law enforcement officers when 
necessary for the d ischarge of their official duties. Other inspections may be 
authorized by the court in ind ividual cases upon a showing that it is necessary in the 
public interest. 

4. Fingerprints of a child are considered a part of the child's juveni le or adult investigative 
file and must be removed from the state and local files and destroyed in accordance 
with section 27-20-54. 

5. If latent fingerprints are found during the investigation of an offense and a law 
enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that they are those of a particular 
child, the officer may fingerprint the child regardless of age or offense for purposes of 
immediate comparison with the latent fingerprints. If  the comparison is negative, the 
fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints taken must be immediately 
destroyed. If the child is not referred to the court, the fingerprints must be immediately 
destroyed. 

6. A chi ld may be photographed by a law enforcement officer at the time of arrest for the 
crimes of murder, manslaughter, gross sexual imposition , robbery, aggravated assault, 
burg lary, theft, forgery, or unlawful possession or use of a handgun.  The photograph 
must be destroyed if the child is not referred to the juvenile court. If a court finds facts 
that would justify a finding that a child at least fourteen years of age at the time of the 
offense is delinquent and the finding involves the unlawful use or possession of a 
handgun or the commission of an act proscribed by the criminal laws of this state and 
pun ishable as a felony or a class A misdemeanor committed for the benefit of, at the 
direction of, or in association or affiliation with any criminal street gang, with the intent 
to promote, further, or assist in the activities of a criminal gang, the juvenile court shall 
order upon the request of the state's attorney the taking and retention of a photograph 
of the child for purposes of identification. Photographs of children under this 
subsection may be maintained on a local basis and sent to a central state depository 
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but must be maintained separate from those of adults and must be destroyed in 
accordance with section 27-20-54. 

27-20-54. Destruction of juvenile court records. 
1 .  Except as otherwise required under section 25-03.3-04, all juvenile court records must 

be retained and disposed of pursuant to rules and policies established by the North 
Dakota supreme court. 

2. Upon the final destruction of a file or record , the proceeding must be treated as if it 
never occurred. The juvenile court shall notify each agency named in  the file or record 
of the destruction. All index references, except those which may be made by the 
attorney general and the d i rectors of the department of transportation , the department 
of human services, the department of corrections and rehabil itation , law enforcement 
agencies, and county social service agencies, must be deleted . Each agency, except 
the attorney general and the directors of the department of transportation,  the 
department of human services, the department of corrections and rehabil itation, law 
enforcement agencies, and county social service agencies, upon notification of the 
destruction of a file or record , shall destroy all files, records, and references to the 
child's apprehension , detention , and referral to the juvenile court and any record of 
d isposition made by the juvenile court. The attorney general, the department of human 
services, the department of corrections and rehabil itation ,  law enforcement agencies, 
and county social service agencies may not keep a juvenile file or record longer than is 
required by the records retention policy of that official, department, or agency. Upon 
inquiry in  any matter the child, the court, and representatives of agencies , except the 
attorney general and the d irectors of the department of transportation , the department 
of human services, the department of corrections and rehabilitation ,  law enforcement 
agencies, and county social service agencies, shall properly reply that no record exists 
with respect to the child. 

27-20-54. 1 .  Destruction of j uvenile records and files - Certain types of records 
excepted. 

Repealed by S .L. 1 979, ch. 366, § 2 .  

27-20-55. Contempt powers. 
The court may punish a person for contempt of court under chapter 27-1 0.  

27-20-56. Appeals. 
1 .  An aggrieved party, including the state or a subdivision of the state , may appeal from a 

final order, judgment, or decree of the juvenile court to the supreme court by fi l ing 
written notice of appeal within thirty days after entry of the order, judgment, or decree, 
or with in  any further time the supreme court grants, after entry of the order, judgment, 
or decree. The appeal must be heard by the supreme court upon the files, records,  
and minutes or transcript of the evidence of the juvenile court, g iving appreciable 
weight to the findings of the juvenile court. The name of the child may not appear on 
the record on appeal. 

2. The appeal does not stay the order, judgment, or decree appealed from, but the 
supreme court may otherwise order on application and hearing consistent with this 
chapter if suitable provision is made for the care and custody of the child . If the order, 
judgment, or decree appealed from grants the custody of the child to, or withholds it 
from,  one or more of the parties to the appeal , it must be heard at the earliest 
practicable time. 

27-20-57. Rules of court. 
The supreme court of this state may adopt rules of procedure not in conflict with this chapter 

govern ing proceedings under it. 
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27-20-58. Uniformity of i nterpretation. 
Repealed by S.L. 1 983, ch. 82, § 1 54. 

27-20-59. Short title. 
This chapter may be cited as the Juvenile Court Act. 

27-20-60. I n-state placement of juveniles - Exception. 
Except for cases in  which the specific necessary treatment is unavailable in the state or 

cases in which the appropriate treatment or services cannot be provided in a timely manner in 
the state, al l  juveni les in need of residential treatment or residential care placement must be 
placed in  i n-state residential facilities. 
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House Bill No. 1210 

Testimony Before Senate Judiciary Committee 

Presented by: Jon Mielke 
Foster Parent 

March 16, 2015 

Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and committee members. My name is Jon Mielke. My wife, 

Carol, and I are foster parents. We have been licensed by Burleigh County since 2002. I am 

appearing in support of the original version of this bill and especially want to thank Rep. 

Klemin for introducing it at my request. 

Over the past 1 2  years my wife and I have fostered 4 1  kids, virtually all infants under the age 

of three. Ten of these placements were long-term, with an average of 14 months. The longest 

was nearly three years. These kids become members of our family. Most often, we were the 

only parents that they knew. 

I am a past president of the North Dakota Foster and Adoptive Parent Association. Carol and 

I were named Foster Parents of the Year in 2006. I am currently employed by the Upper 

Great Plains Transportation Institute. Prior to coming to the Transportation Institute, I 

worked for the Public Service Commission for 23 years. I served as the PSC's chief 

executive officer for 1 0  years and also served as an administrative hearing officer. 

My wife and I regularly attend court proceedings involving the children that we care for. 

Almost all of these proceedings are presided over by a judicial referee instead of a judge. 

Having served as an administrative hearing officer, I am familiar with the discretion that laws 

and rules give to presiding officers. 

In some cases, we strongly disagree with resulting orders that go to an extreme to avoid 

terminating parental rights or return children to parents even though the parents have been 

almost totally non-compliant with permanency plans developed by social service 

professionals and court-appointed guardian ad litems. 

The courts and judicial referees already have the ability to do what this bill proposes, but what 

seems like common sense does not always find its way into corresponding orders. Passing 

this bill would send a clear message to presiding officers regarding a few things that should be 

considered when court orders are issued. 

Section 2 of the bill, as amended, simply provides that when parents, guardians, or custodians 

of children in foster care are participating in rehabilitative programs, related assessments and 

progress reports must be released to the court-appointed legal guardian. In many cases this 

entity would be county social services. Failure to comply with this requirement or to 

regularly visit the child, without good cause, would constitute a lack of compliance and 

should result in an order that would leave the child in protective care. 
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Section 3 of the bill provides that orders that remove a child from protective care should 

provide for a reasonable transition period. Such a provision would give social work 

professionals and foster families time to effectuate a smooth transition and to thereby 

minimize the traumatizing effects that might otherwise come with relocation. 

If court orders are issued without providing for a transition period of even as little as one or 

two or three days, children may be taken out of school and returned to biological parents 

without any prior notice to case workers or foster parents. In other instances, foster parents 

may be forced to leave work mid-afternoon to pack-up clothes and diapers and formula 

because the infant that they are caring for is going to be picked up within an hour or two to 

comply with a court order that was issued earlier that day. Similarly, social service case 

workers may have virtually no time to do the things that they have to do to comply with the 

provisions of a court order that mandates immediate relocation. 

Even more important than the hardships that these orders impose on case workers and foster 

parents is the trauma that it creates for the children involved. They are, in many cases, 

removed from a home environment that they have been in and placed in a foreign 

environment with no related counseling or transition. Judicial referees already have the 

ability to issue orders that minimize these impacts, but that is not always the end result. 

Section 3 of this bill will hopefully remind presiding officers to consider these impacts when 

issuing related orders. 

This bill is not intended to impose new burdens on the courts. It does, however, seek to 

remind presiding officers that biological parents should not be rewarded for noncompliance 

and that court orders should provide reasonable notice before removing children from 

protective care. Both of these changes are ultimately in the best interest of the children 

involved. 

Section 1 of this bill contains an amendment that was inserted by the House Judiciary 

Committee following its hearing on this bill. I have discussed this amendment with three 

members of the judicial system and believe that it will have very little impact on foster 

parents or the children that they take into their homes because virtually all of the children 

involved come into care in an emergency situation and are, therefore, exempt from the 

provisions of Section 1 .  The agencies involved in non-emergency situations may, however, 

have some concerns. If so, I expect that they will testify accordingly. 

As I indicated earlier, I am a past president of the North Dakota Foster and Adoptive Parent 

Association. The association's board of directors has asked me to inform you that it 

unanimously supports the original version of this bill. The board has not discussed the merits 

of Section 1 of the amended bill. 

Thank you Mr. Chairman and committee members, that concludes my testimony. I would be 

happy to respond to any questions that you might have. 
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SENATE JUD GIARY-CO MITTEE 

North Dakota Depa ment of Corrections and Rehabilitation 
Division of Juvenile Services 

Lisa Bjergaard, Director 
Testimony concerning Engrossed House Bill N 

For the record, I am Lisa Bjergaard, Director of the Division of Juvenile Services 

and I present this testimony in opposition to HB1210 in its engrossed form. 

The Division of Juvenile Services took no position on HB1210 as it was 

introduced. HB1210 was in relation to section 27-20-30. However, an 

amendment has added a new subsection 4 to N. D.C.C. § 27-20-13 that will be 

problematic for the Juvenile Court, the Division of Juvenile Services and law 

enforcement. 

Section 27-20-13 of the Juvenile Court Act. 

Section 27-20-13 prescribes the action of taking a child into custody. In most, if 

n ot all instances, this is an action taken by law enforcement officers. There are 

three entities that can direct an officer to take a child into custody: (1) A judge 

can make an order -an example might be issuing a pick up and hold order for a 

runaway or absconding youth; (2) The juvenile court director can direct this 

action - an example might be an after-hours or weekend situation in which law 

enforcement calls the juvenile court director for direction; and (3) The third entity 

is the law enforcement officer who takes action under his or her own authority -

for example, when the officer witnesses the commission of a delinquent act. 

Taking into custody is an action that can only occur in an immediate and urgent 

situation under· Section 27-20-13 . 
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Once the child has been taken into custody, Section 27-20-15 directs what 

occurs next. In this section , the law enforcement officer either follows the 

direction of a judge or juvenile court director, or makes a decision based on the 

officer's own decision-making authority. Section 27-20-15 allows two decisions;  

(1) release the child; or (2) deliver the child to the Juvenile court. The child will 

be released, placed into a shelter, or placed into detention to await delivery to the 

Juvenile court. 

Chapter 27-20 then goes on to describe all of the activities possible in order to 

properly deliver the child to the Juvenile court. In addition, the chapter describes 

the range of actions the court can properly take while exercising jurisdiction over 

a child. 

The amendment to HB 1210 poses the following problems for the Division of 

Juvenile Services. HB 1210, as it was introduced, initiated language for the 

disposition of deprived children. However, Chapter 27-20 applies not just to 

deprived children, but also to unruly and delinquent youth. Section 27-20-13 

provides direction for taking into custody unruly, delinquent and deprived 

children. The addition of the subsection to this section will apply to unruly and 

delinquent cases as well. 

Furthermore, terms used in the amendment are vague. The action of "taking into 

custody" set forth in Section 27-20-13 is not a "transfer into custody", as the 

language of the amendment states. The terms "transfer" and "removal" are 

terms that are used later in the chapter under sections that provide guidance for 

dispositional orders. 

Also, the language of the amendment uses the mandatory "shall". It is unclear 

how to apply the concept of facilitating a beneficial transition period to the action 

of taking a child into custody. 
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Finally, it may not simply be enough to determine that this amendment is s imply 

misplaced and should be added to different section of Chapter 27-20. If the 

amendment is inserted into another section, it poses other chal lenges , including 

potentially resulting in more hearings,  and eliminating certain foster care funding 

streams. 

The Division of Juvenile Services asks that asks Section 1 of Engrossed House 

Bill 1210 be removed in its entirety . 



Testi ony 
E n g rossed H o  se B i l l  1 - epa rtment of H u m a n  Services 

---...J'Ud icia ry Com m ittee 
Senato r  David Hog ue, C h a i rm a n  

M a rch 1 6, 20 1 5  

----�--�--�-----
Cha i rm a n  Hog ue, mem bers of the Com m ittee, I a m  S h a ri Doe, D i rector of 

the C h i l d ren and  Fa m i ly Services Division for the Department of H u man 

Serv ices ( Depa rtment) . I a m  here today to provide i nformation on 

E n g rossed House Bi l l  1 2 1 0 .  

The Department d i d  not ta ke a position o n  House B i l l  1 2 1 0  a s  i ntroduced . 

If Sect ion 1 of Eng rossed House B i l l  1 2 1 0  is on ly  a pp l icab le to North Da kota 

Centu ry Code ( N . D . C . C . )  Sect ion 27- 20- 1 3 ,  ta k ing  a ch i ld  i n to custody, the 

Depa rtment does not bel ieve it wou ld  i m pact the p lacement of foster care 

youth or  Tit le IV- E fu n d i n g .  The Depa rtment reads  the l a n g uage "a cou rt 

order tra nsferri ng  a ch i ld  i n to custody sha l l  provide a reasonab le period of 

t i me to fac i l i tate a benefic ia l tra nsit ion for the ch i l d  and  other parties 

i nvolved" to not a pp ly to tem pora ry custody orders that a re issued by the 

d i rector of j uven i le  cou rt, as they a re not cou rt orders .  If th is i nterpretation 

is  correct, Sect ion 1 of E n g rossed House B i l l  1 2 1 0  would not im pact the 

process of obta i n i ng a tem pora ry custody order from the d i rector of juven i le  

cou rt .  If the  Depa rtment's i nterpretation is not correct, Section 1 would 

l i m it the a bi l ity to i m med iate ly  obta i n  the custody and control  of a n  a l l eged 

deprived ch i ld  p u rsua nt to the tempora ry custody order process set forth in  

s u bd iv is ion h of  s u bsection 1 of  section 27-20-06 of  N . D . C . C . Th is would 

p lace ch i l d ren at risk .  

I f  Sectio n  1 of E n g rossed House B i l l  1 2 1 0  i s  i ntended to  req u i re tra nsit ion 

t ime between a cou rt's order to tempora ri ly  tra nsfer the ch i ld 's leg a l  custody 
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a n d  a ctua l  transfer of the physica l  custody of the ch i ld ,  u n less the ch i ld is i n  

i m med ia te danger, the Department has the fo l lowi n g  concerns re lative to the 

i m pa ct of that sect ion in foster ca re situations :  

A tem po ra ry custody order issued by the d i rector of juven i le  cou rt as 

d iscussed a bove is  va l id  for 96 hours after the i n it ia l rem ova l .  W ith i n  those 

96 h o u rs, a shelter  care hear ing must take place if the ch i ld  is to rema in  i n  

p rotective custody .  Reasona ble notice, either ora l  o r  written ,  stati ng the 

t ime, p lace, and p u rpose of the she lter ca re hea ri ng m ust be g iven to the 

c h i l d  a nd ,  if they ca n be fou n d ,  to the ch i ld 's parents, g u a rd ian ,  or other 

custod ia n .  At the s helter care hea ri ng,  the cou rt w i l l  m a ke a determ i nation 

whether it is contra ry to the welfa re of the ch i l d  to return home. When the 

cou rt d eterm i nes that it is contra ry to the ch i l d 's welfa re to retu rn home, the 

cou rt w i l l  issue a shelter ca re order transferri ng the tem pora ry custody of 

the ch i l d  to the cou nty agency .  If a she lter ca re order is  g ra nted , the cou nty 

agency,  working  throug h the State's Attorney, has u p  to 60 days to a rra nge 

for a deprivation heari n g .  

A c h i ld w h o  i s  cu rrent ly i n  h is or h e r  pa rent's, guard i a n 's, or custod ian 's  

home a lso may be  ordered by  the cou rt i nto protective custody when the 

cou nty agency d eterm i nes the ch i l d ,  i n  h is or her prese nt ci rcu msta nces, is a 

"deprived ch i ld"  u nder N . D . C . C .  section 27-20-02 .  To obta i n  a n  order to 

p lace a ch i ld  i nto protective custody, the cou nty agency w i l l  work with the 

State's Attorney to fi le a petit ion for deprivation wh i le  the ch i ld  is  i n  the 

home of the parent, g ua rd ian ,  or custod i a n .  The chi ld and the pa rent, 

g u a rd i a n ,  or  custod ian  of the ch i ld  a re pa rties to the deprivation hea ring . A 

hea ri ng is he ld a nd the cou rt w i l l  determ ine that it is contra ry to the welfa re 

of the ch i l d  to return home and  p lace the ch i l d  i n  the cou nty agency's 
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custody, o r  it w i l l  determ i n e  that transfer of custody to the county agency is 

d en ied . 

If the cou rt p l a ces the chi ld  in  the county agency's custody, Section 1 of 

E n g rossed H ouse Bi l l  1 2 10 wou l d  req u ire the cou rt to consider a " reaso n a ble  

period of  time" for the tra n sition when doing so wou l d  keep a ch i ld  i n  h a rm 's 

way after the cou rt h a s  tra nsferred custody to the cou nty agency a n d  h a s  

d etermi n ed t h a t  i t  is contra ry t o  t h e  we lfare of t h e  ch i ld  to rem a i n  i n  the 

h o m e  of the p arent, g ua rd i a n ,  or  custodia n .  Th is puts chi ldren at risk.  

Fin a l ly, Section 1 of E n g rossed House Bi l l  1 2 10 wou l d  im pact Title IV- E 

fu n d i n g .  To a ccess federa l Title IV- E fu nding for the care of the ch i ld ,  

fede ra l  ru l e  requ i res the judici a l  determ i nation that  resu lts i n  the chi ld's 

remov a l  to coin cide with the a ction to remove the ch i l d .  If a cou rt orders 

tran sfer of custody for the welfa re of the chi ld,  custodians m ust i m m ed iately 

p la ce that ch i l d  i n  a safe a nd secure settin g .  Titl e  IV- E fu n d i n g  cou l d  n ot be 

ut i l ized if  the cou rt p rovides a "reasona ble period of time" u nder Section 1 of 

E n g rossed House Bi l l  1 2 1 0 .  

T h e  Department asks Section 1 of Engrossed House Bi l l  1 2 1 0  b e  rem oved 

from the b i l l . 

M r. Chairm a n ,  I'm h appy to a n swer q uestions you may have. 
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Proposed Amendment to HB 1210 (.03000 version) 

Page 1, line 1, after enact insert "subsection 4 of section 27-20-13 and" 

Page I, line 5, insert 

"SECTION 1. Subsection 4 to section 27-20-13 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and 

enacted as follows: 

4. Without a compelling reason to the contrary, a court order transferring a child into 

custody shall provide a reasonable period of time to facilitate a beneficial transition for 

the child and other parties involved." 

Renumber accordingly 


